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The Verticon Group 

provides construction 

services and equipment 

hire to the building 

industry through a 

variety of projects in 

the high-rise, large 

commercial, residential 

and engineering sectors. 

Through acquisition 

and a broadening of its 

services and products, 

Verticon is 
building 
growth.



By any measure, 2005-06 was a tough year. 

In our first full year as a public company, our financial performance 
and results were disappointing as our business faced increasing 
competition and the construction sector remained flat. 

By the end of the year, our senior management team in 
Melbourne has been overhauled, our Board of Directors 
has been strengthened, Verticon has established key new 
business partnerships and started to win major contracts 
that will see Verticon on a road to recovery in the 2006-07 
financial year with the full benefits flowing in 2007-08.

Our results

The financial results for the year ended 30 June 2006 
 were disappointing.

Net profit after tax was $1.69m on turnover of $49.96m.

In February and May 2006, Verticon announced reduced earnings 
guidance. The final earnings per share (EPS) of 2.7 cents per share 
was in line with our most recent guidance issued to shareholders 
on 25 May 2006 of between 2.5 to 3.0 cents per share.

The Board has decided not to declare a final dividend. Our 
failure to meet our original full year EPS forecast of 4.0 to 4.5 
cents per share was largely a result of poor management in 
the Victorian business. As well, Queensland was affected by 
increased pressure on margins, a very competitive market and a 
relatively flat construction sector. On a positive note, our market 
share has been maintained in Queensland and grown in New 
South Wales. Verticon performed above target in New Zealand.

Management and Board

The Board has overseen a restructure of our senior 
executive team. As well, we have added more 
expertise and experience to the Board.

Rob Lockett, who has worked extensively in Australia, 
New Zealand, the United Kingdom and South Africa in 
the building and construction sector, was appointed 
Managing Director in June 2006. He replaced Mark 
Kevin who had held the post since Verticon listed on 
the Australian Stock Exchange in December 2004. 

Andrew Torrington, who has worked in Australia, New Zealand and 
the United Kingdom in the construction sector, was appointed Chief 
Financial Officer and Company Secretary in January 2006 to bring 
more rigor and oversight to our financial and reporting systems.

When I was appointed Executive Chairman of Verticon in March 
2006, I was determined to take a “hands on” approach and 
adopt a three year plan to help ensure the future success of 
the business. My plan was to help stabilise the business by 
the end of the 2005-06 financial year, set our company on a 
recovery path for 2006-07 and aim for ongoing growth and 
positive financial returns for all stakeholders during 2007-08.

I was delighted that Sam Fink joined the Board in April 
2006 as a non-executive director. Sam, who has a 
financial background, has been involved in commercial 
and property development throughout his career and has 
also worked alongside Verticon’s major shareholders and 
fellow directors, David Goldberger and David Wieland.

Acquisitions

During the 2005-06, Verticon made two key acquisitions.

On 1 September 2005, Verticon acquired 100% of the issued share 
capital of Fire Up Capital and Rigging Pty Ltd and Fire Up Hire Pty 
Ltd. The total purchase consideration was $5.08m. 

On 1 December 2005, the assets and business of New Zealand-
based Daniel Smith Industries Limited were acquired for a total 
purchase consideration of $41.53m. 

Moving forward

While the Board sees 2006-07 mainly as a year of recovery, 
strategies undertaken in 2005-06 will begin to deliver results in the 
second half of 2006-07 and in the 2007-08 financial year.

These include securing the key contract for crane works at 
the $500 million Melbourne Convention Centre site and the 
development of a key relationship in the Direct Factory Outlet 
(DFO) sector.

Our visible presence at the convention centre site will 
be highlighted from February 2007 onwards and it is 
anticipated the project will deliver about $4.2 million in 
revenue. The convention centre site is located on the 
southern bank of the Yarra River in Melbourne.
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Contexx Pty Ltd, a company I partly own, has been 
contracted to build the Austexx residential, retail and office 
development at South Warf on the adjoining site to the 
convention centre. Contexx will also have an exclusive 
supply agreement with Verticon to provide cranes, hoists 
and other services. A DFO and bulky goods project involving 
Austexx, Contexx and Verticon is also proposed for Fyshwick 
in Canberra. 

Austexx Pty Ltd is a company controlled by David Wieland 
and David Goldberger.

The exclusive supply agreement between Contexx 
and Verticon operates in Australia and New Zealand 
and covers a pipeline of future projects.

As part of Verticon’s strategic acquisition of Daniel Smith 
Industries, funds from the buy out are being re-invested 
by Daniel Smith in purchasing plant and equipment which 
is then hired to Verticon. This helps grow the level of 
equipment available to Verticon across all markets and has 
enabled Daniel Smith to substantially reinvest in Verticon. 

The Board has decided not to issue earnings guidance 
to shareholders for the 2006-07 year at this stage. 
Instead, the Board believes it would be more timely to 
issue guidance to shareholders at the release of the 
half year results expected in about February 2007.   

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge 
the commitment of all our stakeholders during what 
was a trying year and look forward to continuing 
with Verticon during its recovery and growth. 

Noel Henderson
Executive Chairman
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Noel Henderson
Executive Chairman

Noel has worked in the 
construction sector 
throughout Australia 
and globally for 36 
years. He is a former 
chairman of Multiplex 
Construction Division 
worldwide and held 

a series of senior executive posts over 19 
years as well as being a director for 17 
years. Before that, he spent 14 years as 
head of Costain in Australia. Noel retired 
from Multiplex in February 2006. He 
was a founding director of the Australian 
Constructors Association and was 
Victorian president of the former Australian 
Federation of Australian Constructors.

Rob Lockett
Managing Director 
And Chief Executive 
Officer

Rob has worked 
extensively throughout 
South Africa, Australia, 
New Zealand and 
the United Kingdom 
in the building and 

construction industry. After graduating 
in Johannesburg, South Africa in 1985, 
Rob joined a large public construction 
company, Grinaker Construction. There, 
he worked on a variety of commercial 
projects throughout South Africa. In 1992, 
Rob moved to Melbourne to join Leighton 
Contractors before joining Multiplex in 
1995 as a project manager. He oversaw 
the building of a variety of projects 
including a 40 storey apartment tower in 
Auckland and development of the County 
Court project in Melbourne. In 2004, Rob 
was transferred by Multiplex to London, 
and as a Director of the United Kingdom 
business, he managed the 800 million 
pounds White City Retail Development. 
This project included a large civil and 
underground rail infrastructure component. 

Denis Tomasel 
Executive Director 

Denis is the founder 
of Seca and is 
responsible for its 
operations and 
sales and marketing 
functions. Denis has 
extensive experience 
securing new 

contracts and maintaining relationships 
with customers. Denis obtained a 
Civil Engineering Degree and Diploma 
of Education from the University of 
Queensland and is a member of the 
Institution of Engineers Australia. Before 
entering the crane industry, Denis worked 
in numerous areas of civil engineering 
including in local government, pre-
cast concrete, and on the mass transit 
subway systems in Hong Kong. In the 
late 1970s, Denis worked for Italian-
based construction company, Pontello, 
as Operations Manager. When Pontello 
decided to close its Queensland operations 
in 1981, Denis purchased the Pontello 
fleet of tower cranes and established Seca. 
Denis is highly respected for his expertise 
and his achievements and Seca becomes 
involved from inception in almost all major 
Queensland construction projects. 

David Wieland 
Non Executive 
Director

David Wieland, in 
partnership with 
David Goldberger, 
has been involved in 
the oil industry with 
Solo and now Liberty 
Oil Corporation Pty 

Ltd since 1971. He is a director of a wide 
range of private companies including 
Austexx Pty Ltd (Direct Factory Outlets), 
Peninsula Construction Group Pty Ltd, 
and Peninsula Development Group 
Pty Ltd. David brings wide experience 
across a number of diverse industries. 

David 
Goldberger 
Non Executive 
Director 

David Goldberger, 
with David Wieland, 
has been involved 
in the oil industry 
with Solo and 
now Liberty Oil 

Corporation Pty Ltd since 1971. He 
is also a director of a wide range of 
private companies including Austexx Pty 
Ltd (Direct Factory Outlets), Peninsula 
Construction Group Pty Ltd, and Peninsula 
Development Group Pty Ltd. David brings 
vast business experience with strong 
entrepreneurial skills to the Verticon Group. 

Sam Fink
Non Executive 
Director

Sam Fink, an 
accountant, has 
been involved in 
commercial and retail 
property development 
in Melbourne and 
works closely with 

Verticon’s major shareholders, David 
Goldberger and David Wieland.

Board of Directors
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Corporate Governance

As a listed company with Australian 
Stock Exchange Limited (ASX), 
Verticon Group Limited must 
comply with the ASX Listing Rules, 
which were amended on 1 January, 
�00� to enhance compliance by 
listed companies with corporate 
governance best practice.

These provisions require listed companies 
to report on their main corporate 
governance practices by reference to 
the essential corporate governance 
principles (Principles) and best practice 
recommendations (Recommendations) of 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
(the Council), and require a company to 
highlight those areas of departure from 
the Recommendations of the Council and 
explain that departure.

Principle 1 – Lay solid 
foundations for management 
and oversight
Recommendation 1.1 - Formalise 
and disclose the functions reserved 
to the Board and those delegated to 
management.

The Board of Directors has been charged 
by members to oversee the affairs of the 
Company to ensure that they are conducted 
appropriately and in the interests of all 
members. The role of the Board includes:

• guiding and approving strategic 
direction and business planning;

• monitoring business performance 
against agreed benchmarks;

• ensuring the effectiveness of internal 
controls and business risk management;

• appointing and monitoring the 
performance of the Company’s 
Executive Director’s; 

• ensuring the Company complies 
with its responsibilities under the 
Corporations Act, the ASX Listing 
Rules, the Company’s Constitution 
and other relevant legislation; and

• establishing and maintaining an 
appropriate framework of corporate 
governance within which Board members 
and management must operate. 

The Board has currently delegated to the 
Executive Chairman responsibility for the 
formulation of the Company’s strategy and 
business planning. It has delegated to the 
Managing Director the management of the 
day-to-day operations and administration of 
the Company, consistent with the objectives 
and policies set down by the Board. The 
Managing Director is directly accountable 
to the Board for the performance of the 
management team.

Principle � – Structure 
the Board to add value
Recommendation �.1 - A 
majority of the Board should 
be independent directors

Recommendation �.� - The 
chairperson should be an 
independent director

Recommendation �.� - The 
roles of chairperson and chief 
executive officer should not be 
exercised by the same individual

The skills, experience and expertise relevant 
to the position of director held by each 
director in office at the date of the Annual 
Report is included in the section headed 
“Directors” at page 10 of the Annual Report.

The Board comprises six directors 
– three executive directors (the Executive 
Chairman, the Managing Director and the 
Executive Director of Queensland) and 
three non-executive directors. Two of 
the non-executive directors are assessed 
as not being independent due to a 
significant shareholding in the Company.

The criteria for assessing whether 
a director is independent are:

• the director must be a non-executive;

• not to be a substantial shareholder 
of the Company or otherwise 
associated directly with a substantial 
shareholder of the Company; and

• not to be a material supplier to the 
Company or otherwise directly with a 
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Despite the Company not currently 
complying with Recommendations 
2.1, 2.2 and 2.3, the Board believes its 
level of broad management skills and 
experience, financial skills and deep 
understanding of the construction 
industry allow it to guide and direct the 
Company in an appropriate manner.

Recommendation �.� - The 
Board should establish a 
Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination 
Committee, the Charter of which has 
been posted on the Company’s website 
at www.verticon.com.au. The Nomination 
Committee comprises a minimum of 
two directors. The current members 
are Noel Henderson (Chairman), David 
Wieland and David Goldberger. 

The Directors’ terms of appointment 
are governed by the Constitution of the 
Company. A Director appointed to fill a 
casual vacancy, or as an addition to the 
Board, only holds office until the next 
general meeting of members and must then 
retire. After providing for the foregoing, 
one-third of the remaining Directors 
(excluding the Managing Director) must 
retire at each annual general meeting of 
members. The term of office held by each 
director in office at the date of this Annual 
Report is set out in the Directors Report.

All Directors of the Company have direct 
access to the management of the Company 
and, where necessary, to external advisers.

Each Director has the right to request 
independent professional advice at the 
expense of the Company, which request 
is not to be unreasonably withheld. 

Principle � – Promote 
ethical and responsible 
decision-making
Recommendation �.1 - Establish 
a code of conduct to guide the 
directors, the Managing Director, 
the Chief Executive Officer and 
any other key executives as to:
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Corporate Governance (continued)

�.1.1 the practices necessary 
to maintain confidence in the 
Company’s integrity; and

�.1.� the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals 
for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices.

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct, 
which is posted on the Company’s 
website at www.verticon.com.au

Recommendation �.� - Disclose 
the policy concerning trading in 
Company securities by directors, 
officers and employees.

The Board has adopted a Securities Trading 
Policy, which is posted on the Company’s 
website at www.verticon.com.au

Principle � – Safeguard 
integrity in financial reporting
Recommendation �.1 - Require 
the Managing Director and the 
Chief Financial Officer to state 
in writing to the Board that the 
Company’s financial reports 
present a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the Company’s 
financial condition and operational 
results and are in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards.

The Managing Director and the Chief 
Financial Officer have provided a statement 
to the Board dated 24 August 2006 that 
the Company’s financial reports present a 
true and fair view, in all material respects, 
of the Company’s financial condition and 
operational results and are in accordance 
with relevant accounting standards.

Recommendation �.� - The Board 
should establish an Audit Committee. 

It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure 
that an effective internal control framework 
exists within the entity. This includes 
internal controls to deal with both the 
effectiveness and efficiency of significant 
business processes, the safeguarding 
of assets, the maintenance of proper 
accounting records and the reliability of 
financial information as well as non financial 
considerations. The Board has delegated 
the responsibility for the establishment 
and maintenance of a framework of 

internal control and ethical standards 
for the management of the consolidated 
entity to the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee also 
provide the Board with additional 
assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial information for inclusion 
in the financial statements.

Recommendation �.� - 
Structure the Audit Committee 
so that it consists of:

• only non-executive directors
• a majority of independent directors
• an independent chairperson, who is 

not chairperson of the Board
• at least three members

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises 
only non-executive directors of which 
two members are not independent. 
The Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Committee is not to also be the 
Chairman of the Board. The current 
members are Sam Fink (Chairman), 
David Wieland and David Goldberger. 

The Board is satisfied that the Audit and 
Risk Committee has sufficient financial, 
public company, industry sector and 
business expertise to discharge its duties at 
this stage of the Company’s development.

Recommendation �.� - The 
Audit Committee should 
have a formal charter.

The Board has established an Audit and 
Risk Committee, the Charter of which 
has been posted on the Company’s 
website at www.verticon.com.au.

The Company and Audit and Risk 
Committee policy is to appoint 
external auditors who demonstrate 
independence, quality and performance. 
The performance of the external auditor 
is reviewed on an annual basis. 

Principle � – Make timely 
and balanced disclosure
Recommendation �.1 - 
Establish written policies and 
procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements 
and to ensure accountability 
at a senior management level 
for that compliance.

The Board has adopted an ASX Disclosure 
Compliance Policy and Procedures 
document, which is posted on the 
Company’s website at www.verticon.com.au

Principle � – Respect the 
rights of shareholders
Recommendation �.1 - Design 
and disclose a communications 
strategy to promote effective 
communication with shareholders 
and encourage effective 
participation at general meetings.

The Company is committed to keeping 
shareholders fully informed of developments 
and information concerning the Company. 
Information is communicated to 
shareholders and the market generally 
through compliance with ASX Listing Rules 
and the Corporations Act 2001, by way of 
the Annual Report, the Half-Yearly Report, 
the Annual General Meeting and other 
meetings that may be called to obtain 
approval for Board recommendations. 
The Company also maintains a website 
– www.verticon.com.au – where all of 
the Company’s ASX announcements and 
media releases can be viewed at any time.

Recommendation �.� - Request 
the external auditor to attend the 
Annual General Meeting and be 
available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of 
the audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditor’s report.

This has been done and the 
external auditor will be attending 
the Annual General Meeting.
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Corporate Governance (continued)

Principle � – Recognise 
and manage risk
Recommendation �.1 - The Board 
or relevant Board Committee 
should establish policies on risk 
oversight and management.

The Directors continually monitor areas 
of significant business risk, recognising 
that there are inherent risks associated 
with the industry and activities in 
which the Company operates. 

Specifically, in relation to risk oversight the 
Board is conscious of its responsibilities to: 

• ensure compliance in legal, 
statutory and ethical matters; 

• monitor the business environment; 

• identify business opportunities; and 

• monitor the systems established to 
ensure proper and appropriate responses 
to shareholder complaints and enquiries.

The Board has delegated the responsibility 
for the establishment and maintenance 
of a framework for risk oversight and the 
management of risk for the Company 
to the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Charter of which has been posted on the 
Company’s website at www.verticon.com.au

A risk framework and risk management 
program developed by the Company, 
following a comprehensive risk analysis 
of the Company in 2006, is monitored 
by the Audit and Risk Committee.

Recommendation �.� - The 
Managing Director and the Chief 
Financial Officer should state 
to the Board in writing that:

�.�.1 the statement given in 
accordance with best practice 
Recommendation �.1 (the integrity of 
financial statements) is founded on 
a sound system of risk management 
and internal compliance and 
control which implements the 
policies of the Board; and

�.�.� the Company’s risk management 
and internal compliance and control 
system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects.

The Managing Director and the Chief 
Financial Officer have provided a statement 
to the Board dated 24 August 2006 that:

• the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and 
internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies of the Board; and 

• the Company’s risk management 
and internal compliance and control 
system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects.

Principle � – Encourage 
enhanced performance
Recommendation �.1 - Disclose 
the process for performance 
evaluation of the Board, its 
Committees and individual 
directors, and key executives.

The annual review of the performance of 
each director and the Board as a whole was 
conducted in August 2006. The Nomination 
Committee will be reviewing appropriate 
processes in the next 12 months.

Principle 9 – Remunerate 
fairly and responsibly
Recommendation 9.1 - Provide 
disclosure in relation to the 
Company’s remuneration policies 
to enable investors to understand 
(i) the costs and benefits of 
those policies and (ii) the link 
between remuneration paid to 
directors and key executives 
and corporate performance.

A full discussion of the Company’s 
remuneration philosophy and framework 
and the remuneration received by directors 
and executives in the current financial 
year is included in the Remuneration 
Report, which is contained within the 
Directors’ Report at pages 11–14.

Details of the Company’s remuneration 
policy and the total remuneration, 
including monetary and non-monetary 
components, payable to each Director 
and specified executives is included in 
Note 25 of the Financial Statements.

Recommendation 9.� - The 
Board should establish a 
Remuneration Committee.

The Board has established a Remuneration 
Committee the Charter of which has been 
posted on the Company’s website at 
www.verticon.com.au. The Remuneration 
Committee comprises a minimum of 
two non-executive directors. The current 
members are David Wieland (Chairman), 
David Goldberger and Sam Fink.

Recommendation 9.� - Clearly 
distinguish the structure of Non-
Executive Director’s remuneration 
from that of executives.

The Constitution of the Company 
provides that the aggregate remuneration 
of all Directors, in their capacity as 
Directors, must not exceed such sum 
as the Company in general meeting may 
approve. This amount, currently set by 
shareholders at $400,000 per annum, 
is to be apportioned amongst them in 
such manner as the Directors agree 
and, in default of agreement, equally. 
non-executive directors who chair any 
of the Board committees do not receive 
additional remuneration for such duties. 

The remuneration of directors and five 
senior executives of the Company are 
set out at pages 12 and 13 within the 
Directors Report. The disclosure sets 
out the salary, fees, bonus entitlements, 
non-cash benefits, retirement benefits 
and equity related components of each of 
their respective remuneration packages.

There are no arrangements currently in 
place for payment of retirement benefits 
to non-executive directors, other than 
statutory superannuation contributions.

Principle 10 – Recognise 
the legitimate interests 
of stakeholders
Recommendation 10.1 - Establish 
and disclose a code of conduct 
to guide compliance with 
legal and other obligations to 
legitimate stakeholders.

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct, 
which is posted on the Company’s 
website at www.verticon.com.au
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Your Directors present their report on the 
consolidated entity (the Group) consisting 
of Verticon Group Limited and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during the year 
ended 30 June 2006.

Directors 
The following persons were directors of 
Verticon Group Limited at the date of  
this report:

Noel Henderson, Chairman (Executive) 

Rob Lockett, Director (Executive) 

Denis Tomasel, Director (Executive) 

David Wieland, Director (Non Executive) 

David Goldberger, Director (Non Executive) 

Sam Fink, Director (Non Executive) 

Noel Henderson was appointed a director  
17 March 2006.

Michael Butler resigned as a director  
22 February 2006.

Rob Lockett was appointed a director  
7 June 2006.

Mark Kevin resigned as a director 
26 April 2006.

Sam Fink was appointed a director  
26 April 2006.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group during 
the period was the hire of cranes and 
hoists.

There were no significant changes in the 
nature of the Company’s principal activity 
during the period.

Dividends

Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows: 

 �00� 2005
 $’000 $’000

Final ordinary dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005  
of 4.5 cents (2004 - not applicable) per fully paid share  
paid on 21 October 2005 (2004 - not applicable).  
Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% �,�1�  N/A 

No guarantee can be given about the payment of dividends, the level of franking or 
imputation of such dividends for any period as these matters will depend on the future 
profits of Verticon Group Limited and its financial and taxation position at the time.

Review of operations 

Net profit after tax was $1.69m on turnover of $49.96m.

The operating performance was a result of poor management in the Victorian business. As 
well, Queensland was affected by increased pressure on margins, a very competitive market 
and a relatively flat construction sector.

On 1 September 2005, Verticon acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Fire Up Cranes 
and Rigging Pty Ltd and Fire Up Hire Pty Ltd. The total consideration was $5.08m. Between 
1 September 2005 and 30 June 2006, the new business resulted in $5.5m increased 
revenue and a net profit before tax of $1.02m.

On 1 December 2005, the assets and business of New Zealand based Daniel Smith 
Industries Limited were acquired for a total cost of $41.53m. This resulted in increased 
revenue of $7.44m and net profit before tax of $2.68m for the period 1 December 2005 to 
30 June 3006.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year were as 
follows:

 �00�
 $’000

(a)  Acquisition of Fire Up Cranes and Rigging Pty Ltd and Fire Up Hire Pty Ltd �,0�� 
(b)  Acquisition of Daniel Smith Industries Limited (NZ)  �1,���  
(c)  Significant gains and expenses
      Gains:
      Gain on sale of freehold land  ��� 
      Expenses: 
      Bad Debts  ��9  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has occurred after 30 June 
2006 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of Verticon 
Group Limited, the results of those operations or state of affairs of the Company in future 
financial years. 

Directors’ Report
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Environmental regulation
Verticon Group Limited’s operations are 
confined within Australia and New Zealand. 

The operations of Verticon Group Limited 
are covered by a range of environmental 
laws under Commonwealth, State or 
Territorial legislation.

The laws that affect the Company’s 
operations and contracts have been 
covered by our customer’s own risk analysis 
and their management systems. However, 
Verticon Group Limited’s normal operations 
and work procedures utilise existing 
management systems and relevant permits, 
job safety analysis (completed for every 
hire arrangement) and close supervision 
to ensure that activities comply with all 
relevant environmental legislation.

Information on Directors  

Noel Henderson 
Chairmain (Executive) Age 60

Experience and expertise
Noel has worked in the construction sector 
throughout Australia, United Kingdom, 
New Zealand and United Arab Emirates 
for 36 years and is former chairman of the 
construction division of Multiplex Limited.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
Executive director of Multiplex Group 
Limited from 2003 to 2005.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of Board.

Chairman of Occupational Health, Safety 
and Environmental Committee

Chairman of Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares and options
558,424 ordinary shares in 
Verticon Group Limited.

David Wieland 
Director (Non Executive) Age 61

Experience and expertise
David has extensive experience 
in petrol retailing, property 
development and construction.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
None.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of Remuneration Committee

Member of Occupational Health, Safety and 
Environmental Committee

Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Member of Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares and options
16,238,333 ordinary shares in Verticon 
Group Limited.

David Goldberger  
Director (Non Executive) Age 58

Experience and expertise
David has extensive experience in petrol 
retailing, property development and 
construction.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
None.

Special responsibilities
Member of Remuneration Committee

Member of Occupational Health, Safety and 
Environmental Committee

Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Member of Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares and options
16,238,333 ordinary shares in Verticon 
Group Limited.

Sam Fink B.Econ, FCPA 
Director (Non Executive) Age 61

Experience and expertise
Sam has been involved in commercial and 
retail property developmant.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
None.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee

Member of Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares and options
96,000 ordinary shares in 
Verticon Group Limited

Rob Lockett B.Sc.  
Director (Executive) Age 47

Experience and expertise
Rob has worked extensively throughout 
South Africa, Australia, New Zealand 
and the United Kingdom in the building 
and construction industry. Before joining 
Verticon, Rob was a director of Multiplex.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
None.

Special responsibilities
Member of Occupational Health, Safety and 
Environmental Committee.

Interests in shares and options
None.

Denis Tomasel B.Eng, Dip Ed, IEA.  
Director (Executive) Age 55

Experience and expertise
Denis was one of the principals of 
Seca Cranes acquired as part of 
the IPO. Denis has over 20 years 
experience in tower cranes.

Other current directorships of listed 
companies
None.

Former directorships of listed companies 
in last three years
None.

Special responsibilities
None.

Interests in shares and options
2,424,166 ordinary shares in Verticon 
Group Limited.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Meetings of Directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and each board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2006, and the 
numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

  Full meetings               Meetings of Committees 
Director  of directors  Audit  Nomination   Remuneration   OH&S 
 A   B   A   B   A   B   A   B   A   B 

Noel Henderson (appointed 7 March 2006) 5 5 * * * * * * * *
Michael Butler (resigned 22 February 2006) 9 9 1 1 * * 1 1 * *
David Wieland 14 14 2 2 1 1 2 2 1 1
David Goldberger 11 14 2 2 1 1 2 2 1 1
Mark Kevin (resigned 26 April 2006) 11 11 * * 1 1 * * 1 1
Denis Tomasel 14 14 * * * * * * * *
Sam Fink (appointed 26 April 2006) 2 3 * * * * 1 1 * *
Rob Lockett (appointed 7 June 2006) 1 1 * * * * * * * *

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee during the year
* = Not a member of the relevant committee

Remuneration report
The remuneration report is set out under 
the following headings:

A. Principles used to determine the nature 
and amount of remuneration (audited)

B. Details of remuneration (audited)
C. Service agreements (audited)

A. Principles used to determine 
the nature and amount of 
remuneration (audited)
The Remuneration Committee comprises 
a minimum of two Non Executive Directors 
and advises the Board on remuneration 
policies and practises generally, and makes 
specific recommendations on remuneration 
packages and other terms of employment 
for Executive Directors, other senior 
executives and Non Executive Directors.

Executive remuneration and their terms 
of employment will be reviewed annually 
by the committee having regard to 

performance against pre-agreed objectives, 
relevant comparative information and 
independent expert advice.

Remuneration packages are set at levels 
that are intended to attract and retain 
executives capable of managing the various 
parts of the business.

Remuneration of Non Executive Directors 
is determined by the Board within the 
maximum amount approved by the 
shareholders from time to time

B. Details of remuneration 
(audited)

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the Directors 
and other key management personnel are 
set out in the following tables.

The other key management personnel of the 
Verticon Group including the five highest 
paid executives are:

Andrew Torrington - Chief Financial Officer 
& Company Secretary

Daniel Smith – General Manager,  
New Zealand

Jason Redman – General Manager,  
New South Wales

Rod Samimi – General Manager, 
Queensland

Leon Key – General Manager, Victoria  
(from 01/07/2005 - 31/01/2006)

Peter Cooper – Chief Financial Officer & 
Company Secretary (from 01/07/2005 – 
06/01/2006)

The key management personnel of Verticon 
Group Limited are as per above excluding 
Daniel Smith who is employed by the 
subsidiary Verticon New Zealand Limited. 
There are no other key management 
personnel or executives of the parent entity.

Company Secretary

The company secretary is Andrew 
Torrington B.Comm, MBA. Andrew was 
appointed Chief Financial Officer & 
Company Secretary on 9 January 2006. 
Before joining Verticon Group, Andrew was 
a director of Multiplex.
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Directors of Verticon Group 
 
�0 June �00�      Post-  
   Short term employee  employment   
   benefits benefits Share-based payments

    Cash salary   Non monetary   Super-  
Directors    and fees   benefits   annuation   Shares   Options   Total 
   $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Noel Henderson 
(from 17/03/2006 - 30/06/2006)   70,394   125   3,906   -    -    74,425 
David Wieland  *     -    -    -    -    -    -  
David Goldberger  *     -    -    -    -    -    -  
Sam Fink 
(from 26/04/2006 - 30/06/2006)  6,575   -    592   -    -    7,167 
Michael Butler 
 (from 01/07/2005 - 22/02/2006)  72,667   -    -    -    -    72,667 
Rob Lockett  **  
 (from 07/06/2006 - 30/06/2006)  118,760   -    1,012   -    -    119,772 
Denis Tomasel   212,500   -    90,000   -    -    302,500 
Mark Kevin 
(from 01/07/2005 - 26/04/2006)  309,612   27,336   27,000   -    -    363,948 

Total   �90,�0�   ��,��1   1��,�10   -    -    9�0,��9 

* David Wieland and David Goldberger have agreed to forgo any remuneration for the services they provide as Directors of Verticon  
Group Limited.

** Rob Lockett cash salary and fees includes a one-off sign on fee on joining Verticon Group Limited.

�0 June �00�      Post-  
   Short term employee  employment   
   benefits benefits Share-based payments

    Cash salary   Non monetary   Super-  
Directors    and fees   benefits   annuation   Shares   Options   Total 
   $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Michael Butler   67,822   -    -    -    -    67,822 
Mark Kevin   184,068   17,855   16,477   1,000   19,535   238,935 
Denis Tomasel   74,473   1,741   92,523   2,501,000   -    2,669,737 
David Wieland   -    -    -    -    -    -  
David Goldberger    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Total   ���,���   19,�9�   109,000   �,�0�,000   19,���   �,9��,�9� 

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)

�0 June �00�      Post-  
   Short term employee  employment   
   benefits benefits Share-based payments

    Cash salary   Non monetary   Super-  
Key Management Personnel   and fees   benefits   annuation   Shares   Options   Total 
   $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Andrew Torrington 
(from 09/01/2006 - 30/06/2006)  108,359   706   6,641   -    -    115,706 
Daniel Smith 
(from 01/12/2005 - 30/06/2006)   112,814   -    -    -    -    112,814 
Jason Redman 
(from 01/09/2005 - 30/06/2006)  158,333   -    14,250   -    -    172,583 
Rodney Samimi   210,000   11,584   29,800   -    -    251,384 
Leon Key 
(from 01/07/2005 - 31/01/2006)  105,489   -    -    -    -    105,489 
Peter Cooper 
(from 01/07/2005 - 06/01/2006)  104,273   5,367   21,223   -    -    130,863 

Total   �99,���   1�,���   �1,91�   -    -    ���,��9 
 

�0 June �00�      Post-  
   Short term employee  employment   
   benefits benefits Share-based payments

    Cash salary   Non monetary   Super-  
Key Management Personnel   and fees   benefits   annuation   Shares   Options   Total 
   $   $   $   $   $   $ 

Charles Abela   115,276   -    11,829   1,000   -    128,105 
Leon Key   25,000   -    -    -    -    25,000 
Peter Cooper   65,810   7,198   34,874   1,000   -    108,882 
Rodney Samimi   44,611   3,146   4,015   -    -    51,772 
Stephen Gunn   26,048   1,716   89,508   2,501,000   -    2,618,272 

Total   ���,���   1�,0�0   1�0,���   �,�0�,000   -    �,9��,0�1 

C. Service agreements (audited)
Remuneration and other terms of 
employment for the Executive Chairman, 
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer 
and the other key management personnel 
are formalised in service agreements. 
Each of these agreements provides for 
the provision of performance-related cash 
bonuses, other benefits including car 
allowances, and participation, when eligible, 
in the Verticon Group Limited Executive 
Incentive Plan.

Noel Henderson, Executive Chairman

• Term of agreement - three years 
commencing 17 March 2006. 

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
$300,000 to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
three months notice by either party. 
No termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract. 

 

Rob Lockett, Managing Director 

• Term of agreement - five years 
commencing 7 June 2006. 

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
$330,000 to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
six months notice by either party. No 
termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract. 
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Andrew Torrington, Chief Financial 
Officer & Company Secretary 

• Term of agreement - five years 
commencing 9 January 2006. 

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
$230,000 to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
four months notice by either party. No 
termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract. 

 

Daniel Smith, General Manager - New 
Zealand 

• Term of agreement - five years 
commencing 1 December 2005. 

• Base salary for the year ended 30 June 
2006 of $220,000 to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration 
Committee. 

• Car allowance provided. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
four months notice by either party. No 
termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract. 

 

Jason Redman, General Manager 
- New South Wales 

• Term of agreement - five years 
commencing 1 September 2005. 

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
$207,000 to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

• Car allowance provided. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
six months notice by either party. No 
termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract. 

 

Rod Samimi, General Manager - 
Queensland 

• Term of agreement - five years 
commencing 18 April 2005. 

• Base salary, exclusive of superannuation, 
for the year ended 30 June 2006 of 
$220,000 to be reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. 

• Car allowance provided. 

• Termination of contract is subject to 
six months notice by either party. No 
termination benefits are payable on 
expiry or early termination of contract.

Insurance of officers
During the financial period, the Company 
paid premiums in respect of indemnity 
insurance contracts, for all Directors of 
the Company named in the report, as 
well as other Officers of the Company.
Insurance policies insure persons who 
are Directors or Officers of the Company 
against certain liabilities incurred as such 
by a Director or Officer, while acting in 
that capacity, except where liability arises 
out of conduct involving lack of good 
faith. The Directors have not included 
details of the nature of the liabilities 
covered or the amount of the premium 
paid in respect of the insurance policies, 
since disclosure is prohibited under the 
terms of the insurance contracts.

Proceedings on behalf of the 
Company
No person has applied to the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 
2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the company, or to intervene in 
any proceedings to which the company 
is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the company 
for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ 
the auditor on assignments additional 
to their statutory audit duties where 
the auditor’s expertise and experience 
with the Company are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable 
to the auditor (PriceWaterhouseCoopers) 
for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the period are set out below.
The Board of Directors has considered 
the position and, in accordance with the 
advice received from the Audit and Risk 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision 
of the non-audit services is compatible 
with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non-audit services 
by the auditor, as set out below, did not 
compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the following reasons:
• All non-audit services have been reviewed 

by the Audit and Risk Committee to 
ensure they do not impact the impartiality 
and objectivity of the auditor; and

• none of the services undermine the 
general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in Professional 
Statement F1, including reviewing or 
auditing the auditor’s own work, acting 
in a management or a decision making 
capacity of the Company, acting as 
advocate for the Company or jointly 
sharing economic risk and rewards.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of Verticon Group Limited and non-related  
audit firms:  

  �00�   2005 
  $   $ 

Assurance services 

1. Audit services 
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm: 
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cwlth) 188,500  110,000 
Total remuneration for audit services 1��,�00    110,000 

 

2. Other assurance services 
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm: 
Due diligence services 290,743  25,000 
Investigating accountant service for IPO  -    727,686 
AIFRS accounting services 4,000   8,194 
Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers New Zealand firm:   
Other Services 37,560   -  
Fees paid to non PricewaterhouseCoopers firms for other assurance services  -    83,393 
Total remuneration for other assurance services ���,�0�  ���,��� 

Total remuneration for assurance services ��0,�0�  9��,��� 

 
Taxation services 

Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm: 
Tax compliance services  39,995  7,800 
Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:   
Tax Compliance Services 6,519 - 
Total remuneration for taxation services ��,�1�  �,�00 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 16. 

 
Rounding of amounts to nearest thousand dollars
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to 
the “rounding off” of amounts in the Directors’ Report and Financial Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report and Financial Report have 
been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order.  
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  
 

 
 
Noel Henderson  Rob Lockett  
Chairman  Managing Director 
  
Signed at Melbourne,  Dated this 24th day of August 2006.



Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ABN 52 780 433 757 

Freshwater Place 
2 Southbank Boulevard 
SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006 
GPO Box 1331L 
MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
DX 77 
Website:www.pwc.com/au 
Telephone 61 3 8603 1000 
Facsimile  61 3 8603 1999 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Verticon Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006, I 
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit.

This declaration is in respect of Verticon Group Limited and the entities it controlled during 
the period. 

Chris Dodd         Melbourne 
Partner         24 August 2006 
PricewaterhouseCoopers

1� VERTICON GROUP LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from continuing operations 5  �9,9��   24,348   ��,�1�   24,348 
Other income 6  ���   1   ���   1 
Employee benefits expense   (��,���)  (11,196)  (�0,0��)  (11,196)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 7  (�,���)  (1,638)  (�,��1)  (1,638)
Bad and doubtful debts 10  (��9)  (84)  (��9)  (84)
Finance costs 7  (�,�0�)  (276)  (1,�1�)  (276)
Equipment hire and consumables used   (�,���)  (1,217)  (�,001)  (1,217)
Inventories expensed 11  (1,���)  (1,686)  (1,���)  (1,686)
Impairment of goodwill 15  (��)  -    (��)  -  
Subcontractors   (�,���)  (1,179)  (�,0�1)  (1,179)
Administration expenses   (�,���)  (417)  (1,��0)  (417)
Rental expenses   (�90)  (171)  (���)  (171)
Other expenses   (�,9��)  (381)  (�,�00)  (381)
Profit /(loss) before income tax   �,���   6,104   (9��)  6,104 

Income tax expense 8  (1,0�9)  (1,809)  �0�   (1,809)
Profit /(loss) attributable to members of Verticon Group Limited   1,�9�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 

 
    Cents Cents

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:
Basic earnings per share 35    �.�  8.6 
Diluted earnings per share 35    �.�   8.6 
  

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Income statement
 For the year ended 30 June 2006 
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                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 9  �0�   715   1�   715 
Trade and other receivables 10  1�,���   9,896   10,���   9,896
Current tax assets  1��  - 1�� -    
Inventories 11 ��1 215 ��1 215
Total current assets  1�,��9 10,826 10,��� 10,826

Non-current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 12  ��,���   48,551   �1,119   48,551 
Other financial assets 13  -    -    1�,��1   -  
Deferred tax assets 14  1,���   1,044   1,���   1,044 
Intangible assets 15  1�,�91   5,985   �,9��   5,985 
Total non-current assets   99,9�0   55,580   ��,��9   55,580 

Total assets   11�,��9   66,406   ��,�0�   66,406 

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 16  1�,��1   2,455   �,0�9   2,455 
Current tax liabilities   �1   811   -    811 
Borrowings 17  9,���   2,692   9,1��   2,692 
Provisions 18  9��   641   ���   641 
Total current liabilities   ��,0��   6,599   1�,0�9   6,599 

Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings 19  ��,��9   5,152   1�,���   5,152 
Deferred tax liabilities 20  1,���   637   1,��0   637 
Provisions 21  -    241   -    241 
Total non-current liabilities   �9,���   6,030   �0,0��   6,030 

Total liabilities   ��,��9   12,629   ��,10�   12,629 

Net assets   �1,1�9   53,777   �0,�9�   53,777 

EQUITY 
Contributed equity 22  �9,���   49,463   �9,���   49,463 
Reserves 23  (1,�00)  19   -    19 
Retained profits 23  �,1��   4,295   ���   4,295 
Total equity   �1,1�9   53,777   �0,�9�   53,777 

 

The above balance sheet  should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance sheet
 As at 30 June 2006 
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                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the financial year   ��,���   -    ��,���   - 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 23  (1,�00)  -    -    -  
Net income recognised directly in equity   (1,�00)  -  -  - 
Profit/(loss) for the year   1,�9�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 
Total recognised income and expense for the year   19�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 
 
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders: 
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 22  -    49,463   -    49,463 
Employee share options 23  (1�)  19   (1�)  19 
Dividends provided for or paid 24  (�,�1�)  -    (�,�1�)  -  
   (�,��1)  49,482   (�,��1)  49,482
Total equity at the end of the financial year   �1,1�9   53,777   �0,�9�   53,777 

Total recognised income and expense for the year is attributable to: 
Members of Verticon Group Limited   19�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 
  19�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 
 
 
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Statements of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2006
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Cash flow statement
 For the year ended 30 June 2006

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
 Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)   ��,�1�   17,907   �0,���   17,907 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax)   (��,��1)  (17,300)  (��,�01)  (17,300)
   �,���   607   �,���   607 
Interest received   1�   53   9   53 
Interest paid   (�,���)  (509)  (1,��1)  (509)
Income taxes paid   (1,���)  -    (1,�0�)  -  
Net cash inflow from operating activities 33  �,��1   151   �,���   151 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments for acquisition of businesses   -    (49,817)  -    (49,817)
Payment for subsidiary, net of cash acquired   (�,���)  -    (1�,11�)  -  
Payments for other acquisition costs   -    (175)  -    (175)
Payments for property, plant and equipment   (��,�9�)  (3,291)  (�,���)  (3,291)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   �,��1   16   �,��1   16 
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities   (��,���)  (53,267)  (�0,���)  (53,267)
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issues of shares   -    50,000   -    50,000 
Share issue costs   -    (3,670)  -    (3,670)
Proceeds from borrowings   �1,���   4,997   19,�1�   4,997 
Repayment of borrowings   (�9�)  (62)  (��1)  (62)
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders   (�,�1�)  -    (�,�1�)  -  
Net cash inflow from financing activities   ��,��0   51,265   1�,���   51,265 
 
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (�,0��)  (1,851)  (1,���)  (1,851)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   (1,��1)  -    (1,��1)  -  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (��)  -    (��)  -  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9  (�,01�)  (1,851)  (�,���)  (1,851)
 
 
The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2006

Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of the financial report 
are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 
The financial report includes separate 
financial statements for Verticon Group 
Limited as an individual entity and the 
consolidated entity consisting of Verticon 
Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRSs), 
other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations 
and the Corporations Act 2001.

Compliance with IFRSs
Australian Accounting Standards include 
AIFRSs. Compliance with AIFRSs 
ensures that the consolidated financial 
statements and notes of Verticon 
Group Limited comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoption 
of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards
These financial statements are the first 
Verticon Group Limited financial statements 
to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs. 
AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian 
Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards has been applied in 
preparing these financial statements.

Financial statements of Verticon Group 
Limited until 30 June 2005 had been 
prepared in accordance with previous 
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP differs in 
certain respects from AIFRS. When 
preparing the Verticon Group Limited 2006 

financial statements, management has 
amended certain accounting and valuation 
methods applied in the AGAAP financial 
statements to comply with AIFRS. With 
the exception of financial instruments, the 
comparative figures in respect of 2005 were 
restated to reflect these adjustments.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the 
effect of transition from previous AGAAP 
to AIFRSs on the Group’s equity and 
its net income are given in note 37.

Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost 
convention.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with AIFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its 
judgment in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

(b) Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets and liabilities 
of all subsidiaries of Verticon Group 
Limited as at 30 June 2006 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the year 
then ended. Verticon Group Limited 
and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in this financial report as 
the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including 
special purpose entities) over which 
the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one-half of the voting rights. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether 
the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used 
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries 
by the Group (refer to note 1(h).

Intercompany transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides 
evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted 
for at cost in the individual financial 
statements of Verticon Group Limited.

(c) Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets 
and operations engaged in providing 
products or services that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different 
to those of other business segments. 
A geographical segment is engaged in 
providing products or services within a 
particular economic environment and 
is subject to risks and returns that are 
different from those of segments operating 
in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements 
of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Verticon Group Limited’s 
functional and presentation currency.
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(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement, except when deferred 
in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 
and qualifying net investment hedges.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of 
all the Group entities (none of which 
has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

•assets and liabilities for each 
balance sheet presented are 
translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that balance sheet;

•income and expenses for each income 
statement are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not 
a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 
on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated 
at the dates of the transactions); and

•all resulting exchange differences 
are recognised as a separate 
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences 
arising from the translation of any net 
investment in foreign entities, and of 
borrowings and other financial instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments, 
are taken to shareholders’ equity. When 
a foreign operation is sold or borrowings 
forming part of the net investment are 
repaid, a proportionate share of such 
exchange differences are recognised 
in the income statement as part of the 
gain or loss on sale where applicable.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 
Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of 
returns, trade allowances and amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities, including crane and 
hoist rental, erection and dismantling of 
the cranes and hoists, rigging and labour 
hire when the service has been provided.

Revenue is recognised for equipment  
sales when delivery of the equipment has 
taken place.

(f) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, less provision for 
doubtful debts. Trade receivables 
are due for settlement within 45–60 
days from the date of recognition.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written 
off. A provision for doubtful receivables 
is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. The 
amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. Cash flows 
relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted if the effect of discounting is 
immaterial. The amount of the provision 
is recognised in the income statement.

(g) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair 
value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the income statement 
over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the balance sheet date.

(h) Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is 
used to account for all acquisitions of 
assets (including business combinations) 
regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. Cost is 
measured as the fair value of the assets 
given, shares issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange 
plus costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition. Where equity instruments are 
issued in an acquisition, the fair value of 
the instruments is their published market 
price as at the date of exchange unless, in 
rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated 
that the published price at the date of 
exchange is an unreliable indicator of 
fair value and that other evidence and 
valuation methods provide a more reliable 
measure of fair value. Transaction costs 
arising on the issue of equity instruments 
are recognised directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date, irrespective of the extent of any 
minority interest. The excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill (refer note 1(p)). If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in 
the income statement, but only after a 
reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts 
payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date of 
exchange. The discount rate used is the 
entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being 
the rate at which a similar borrowing could 
be obtained from an independent financier 
under comparable terms and conditions.

(i) Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have 
an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that 
they might be impaired. Other assets are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash 
generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

For cash flow statement purposes, cash 
and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes 

in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(k) Property, plant & equipment

All property, plant and equipment 
is stated at historical cost less 
depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period 
in which they are incurred (note (l)).

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation 
on other assets is calculated using 
the straight line method to allocate 
their cost or revalued amounts, net 
of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

•Cranes, hoists and parts  .....5 to 25 years
•Other plant and equipment  4 to 10 years
•Motor vehicles  ...................5 to 15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount. These are 
included in the income statement. 

(l) Maintenance and repairs

The Group plant is required to be 
overhauled on a regular basis. This 
is managed as part of a continuous 
maintenance program. The costs of this 
maintenance are charged as expenses as 
incurred, except where they extend the 

useful life of an asset, or where they relate 
to the replacement of a component of an 
asset which has been fully depreciated 
or is being written off, in which case the 
costs are capitalised and depreciated 
in accordance with note 1(k) above. 
Other routine operating maintenance, 
repair and minor renewal costs are also 
charged as expenses as incurred. 

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, 
including non-monetary benefits, and 
annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date 
are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date and are 
measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is 
recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits and measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. 
Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency 
that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

(iii) Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including 
payroll tax, are recognised and included 
in employee benefit liabilities and costs 
when the employee benefits to which 
they relate are recognised as liabilities. 

(iv) Equity-based compensation benefits
Equity-based compensation benefits are 
provided to employees via the Verticon 
Executive Option Plan and the Employee 
and Executive Share Plan.   
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Shares and options granted after 
15 October 2004 and vested 
before 1 January 2005

No expense is recognised in respect 
of shares issued to employees 
for nil consideration. No options 
vested before 1 January 2005.

Shares and options granted after 
15 October 2004 and vested 
after 1 January 2005

The fair value of options granted under 
the Verticon Employee Option Plan is 
recognised as an employee benefit 
expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is measured at 
grant date and recognised over the period 
during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date is determined 
using an option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term 
of the option, the vesting and performance 
criteria, the impact of dilution, the non 
tradeable nature of the option, the share 
price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted 
excludes the impact of any non market 
vesting conditions (for example, profitability 
and sales growth targets). Non market 
vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options 
that are expected to become exercisable. 
At each balance sheet date, the entity 
revises its estimate of the number of 
options that are expected to become 
exercisable. The employee benefit 
expense recognised each period takes 
into account the most recent estimate.

Upon the exercise of options, the 
balance of the share based payments 
reserve relating to those options 
is transferred to share capital.

(n) Inventories

Inventories and work in progress are stated 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost comprises direct materials, direct 
labour and an sppropriate proportion of 
variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the 
latter being allocated on the basis of normal 
operating capacity. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

(o) Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment 
where the Group has substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are capitalised at the lease’s 
inception at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased property and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding rental obligations, 
net of finance charges, are included in 
other long term payables. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability 
and finance cost. The finance cost is 
charged to the income statement over 
the lease period so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period. The property, plant and 
equipment acquired under finance leases 
is depreciated over the asset’s useful life.

Leases in which a significant portion of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged 
to the income statement on a straight 
line basis over the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases 
is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(p) Intangible Assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost 
of an acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the net identifiable assets 
of the acquired subsidiary at the date 
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions 
of subsidiaries is included in intangible 
assets. Goodwill is not amortised. 
Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Gains and losses on the disposal 
of an entity include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating 
units for the purpose of impairment 
testing. Each of those cash-generating 
units represents the Group’s investment 
in each country of operation (note 4).

(ii) Sign-on fees
Sign-on fees have a finite life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated 
using the straight line method to allocate 
the cost of the sign-on fees over their 
estimated useful life of 5 years.

(q) Investments and other 
financial assets

The Group determines the classification 
of its investments at initial recognition, 
depending on the purpose for which 
the investments were acquired and in 
the case of assets classified as held-to-
maturity, re-evaluates this designation 
at each reporting date. At this reporting 
date, the Group has only financial assets 
classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They arise when the 
Group provides money, goods or services 
directly to a debtor with no intention of 
selling the receivable. They are included 
in current assets, except for those with 
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maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date which 
are classified as non current assets. 
Loans and receivables are included in 
receivables in the balance sheet. Loans 
and receivables are carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The Group assesses at each balance 
date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired.

(r) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for 
goods and services provided to Verticon 
Group Limited prior to the end of the 
financial period and which are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 30 days of recognition.

(s) Non-current assets constructed 
by Verticon Group Limited

The cost of non-current assets constructed 
by the Company includes the cost 
of all materials used in construction 
and direct labour on the project.

(t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the 
Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it 
is more likely than not that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow 
will be required in settlement is determined 
by considering the class of obligations 
as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with 
respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present 
value of management’s best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at balance sheet date. 
The discount rate used to determine the 
present value reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as interest expense.

(u) Income tax

The income tax expense or revenue for the 
period is the tax payable on the current 
period’s taxable income based on the 
national income tax rate for each 
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial 
statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised for temporary differences at the 
tax rates expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based 
on those tax rates which are enacted or 
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. 
The relevant tax rates are applied to the 
cumulative amounts of deductible and 
taxable temporary differences to measure 
the deferred tax asset or liability. An 
exception is made for certain temporary 
differences arising from the initial 
recognition of an asset or a liability. No 
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised 
in relation to these temporary differences 
if they arose in a transaction, other than 
a business combination, that at the time 
of the transaction did not affect either 
accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for deductible temporary differences 
and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not 
recognised for temporary differences 
between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled 
entities where the parent entity is able 
to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current 
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable 
right to offset and intends either to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances 
attributable to amounts recognised directly 
in equity are also recognised directly  
in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation 
Verticon Group Limited and its wholly-
owned Australian controlled entities 
have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation from 1 September 2005, 
when Verticon Group Limited acquired its 
controlled entities.

The head entity, Verticon Group Limited, 
and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group continue to account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts.  
These tax amounts are measured as if 
each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its 
own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred 
tax amounts, Verticon Group Limited also 
recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising 
from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in 
the tax consolidated group.

Verticon Group Limited is in the process 
of finalising a Tax Funding and Sharing 
Agreement.

Assets or liabilities arising under the 
agreement with the tax consolidated 
entities are recognised as debits or credits 
in the current general intercompany 
account.  Details about the agreement are 
disclosed in note 8.

Any difference between the amounts 
assumed and amounts receivable or 
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payable under the tax funding agreement 
are recognised as a contribution to (or 
distribution from) wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities.  

(v) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In this case, it is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST receivable 
or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included with other receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to the taxation authority, are 
presented as operating cash flow.

(w) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options, or for the acquisition of a business, 
are included in the cost of the acquisition 
as part of the purchase consideration.

(x) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount 
of any dividend declared, being 
appropriately authorised and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or 
before the end of the financial year 
but not distributed at balance date. 

(y) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to equity 
holders of the Company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary 
shares, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements 
in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the 
figures used in the determination of basic 
earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of shares assumed to 
have been issued for no consideration in 
relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(z) Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind referred to 
in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the “rounding 
off” of amounts in the financial report. 
Amounts in the financial report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that Class 
Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or 
in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

(aa) New accounting standards 
and UIG interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and 
UIG interpretations have been published 
that are not mandatory for 30 June 2006 
reporting periods. The Group’s assessment 
of the impact of these new standards 
and interpretations is set out below.

(i) UIG 4 Determining whether 
an Asset Contains a Lease
UIG 4 is applicable to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 
The Group has not elected to adopt 
UIG 4 early. It will apply UIG 4 in its 
2007 financial statements and the UIG 
4 transition provisions. The Group will 
therefore apply UIG 4 on the basis of facts 
and circumstances that existed as of 1 
July 2006. Implementation of UIG 4 is not 

expected to changed the accounting for 
any of the Group’s current arrangements.

(ii) AASB 2006-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 121]  
AASB 2006-1 is applicable to annual 
reporting periods ending on or after 
31 December 2006. The amendment 
relates to monetary items that form part 
of a reporting entity’s net investment 
in a foreign operation. It removes the 
requirement that such monetary items 
had to be denominated either in the 
functional currency of the reporting 
entity or the foreign operation. This will 
have no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements as such investment in 
foreign operations will continue to be 
denominated in the reporting currency.

Note � Financial risk 
management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety 
of financial risks; market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate 
risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity 
risk and cash flow interest rate risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management 
program focuses on the unpredictability 
of the financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Group.

Risk management is carried out by the 
head office finance department under 
direction from the Board of Directors. 
The finance department identifies, 
evaluates and manages financial risks 
in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units and subsidiaries.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when 
future commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not 
the entity’s functional currency.

The Group operates internationally and 
is exposed to foreign exchange risk 
arising from currency exposures to the 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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New Zealand dollar. Head office finance 
department closely monitors exposures 
to foreign currency and has assessed the 
foreign exchange risk exposure to the New 
Zealand dollar as low. Accordingly, the 
Group does not cover this risk by the use 
of external forward exchange contracts.

(ii) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity 
securities price risk or commodity price risk.

(iii) Fair value interest rate risk
Refer to (d) below.

(b) Credit risk

The Group has no concentrations of credit 
risk. The Group has policies in place to 
ensure sales are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. Verticon aims at maintaining 
flexibility in funding by keeping 
committed credit lines available.

(d) Cash flow and fair value 
interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant 
interest-bearing assets, the Group’s 
income and operating cash flows 
are not materially exposed to 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from 
long term borrowings. Borrowings issued 
at variable rates expose the Group to 
cash-flow interest rate risk. Borrowings 
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to 
fair value interest rate risk. Group policy 
is to regularly review borrowing terms. 
Current borrowings are at variable rates.

Note �  Critical accounting 
estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates 
and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. 
The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. Directors do not 
believe there are any estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note �  Segment information

Business segments
The consolidated entity is organised on a global basis and operates in one segment only, that being the hire of cranes and hoists.

Geographic segments
Although the consolidated entities are managed on a global basis, they operate in two main geographical areas:

Australia
The home country of the parent entity which is also the main operating entity.

New Zealand
Comprises operations carried out in New Zealand.

Segment revenues are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located. Segment assets and capital expenditure are 
allocated based on where the assets are located.

   �00� 2005 �00� 2005 �00� 2005
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia    ��,99�   24,349   ��,��1   66,406   1�,���   56,268 
New Zealand    �,���   -    ��,�9�   -    ��,�9�   -  
   �0,��0   24,349   11�,��9   66,406   ��,0�0   56,268 

Segment revenues 
from sales to 

external customers Segment assets

Acquisition of 
property plant and 

equipment, intangible 
and other non current 

segment assets

Note �  Revenue
 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

From continuing operations

Sales revenue 
Sales of services   ��,���   21,659   ��,9��   21,659 
Sales of goods   1,��1   2,636   1,���   2,636 
   �9,9��   24,295   ��,�0�   24,295 

Other revenue 
Interest   1�   53   9   53 
   �9,9��   24,348   ��,�1�   24,348 
 

Note �  Other income 
 
Net gain on disposal of property plant and equipment   ���   1   ���   1 
   ���   1   ���   1 
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Note �  Expenses
 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 

Depreciation and amortisation 
Plant and equipment   �,��9   1,512   �,1��   1,512 
Leasehold improvements   1   -    1   -  
Plant and equipment under finance lease   ���   18   ���   18 
Amortisation of sign on fees   �00   108   �00   108 
   �,���   1,638   �,��1   1,638 

Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid/payable   �,�0�   276   1,�1�  276
 
Rental expense relating to operating leases 
Minimum lease payments   �90   171   ���   171

Defined contribution superannuation expenses   1,���  940   1,��1  940

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note �  Income tax expense

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Income tax expense 

Current tax   ��0   1,335   (���)  1,335 
Deferred tax   ��1   474   ���   474 
Under (over) provided in prior years   (1�)  -    (1�)  -  
   1,0�9   1,809   (�0�)  1,809 
 
Income tax expense is attributable to: 
Profit from continuing operations   1,0�9   1,809   (�0�)  1,809 
Aggregate income tax expense   1,0�9   1,809   (�0�)  1,809 
 
Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax expense comprises: 
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 14)   (1�0)  (163)  (��)  (163)
(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 20)   9�1   637   ���   637 
   ��1   474   ���   474 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note �  Income tax expense (continued)

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense   �,���   6,104   (9��)  6,104 
 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2005 - 30%)   ���   1,831   (���)  1,831 
 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Depreciation and amortisation   ��   25   1�   25 
Share based payments   (�)  6   (�)  6 
Sundry items   1��   (54)  (�0)  (54)
   1�9   (23)  (�)  (23)
 
Difference in overseas tax rates   �9   -    -    -  
Under (over) provision in prior year   (1�)  -    (1�)  -  
Income tax expense   1,0�9   1,808   (�0�)  1,808 

Tax consolidation legislation

Verticon Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation from 1 
September 2005, when Verticon Group Limited acquired its controlled entities.

The head entity, Verticon Group Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current 
and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone 
taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Verticon Group Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

Verticon Group Limited is in the process of finalising a Tax Funding and Sharing Agreement. Under the Agreement the wholly-owned entities 
fully compensate Verticon Group Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Verticon Group Limited for any 
current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Verticon Group 
Limited under tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-
owned entities’ financial accounts.

Assets or liabilities arising under the agreement with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as debits or credits in the current general 
intercompany account.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a 
contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.
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Note 9  Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand   304   715   17   715 
   �0�   715   1�   715 
 
(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year 
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statements of cash flows as follows: 
 
Balances as above   �0�   715   1�   715 
Bank overdrafts (note 17)   (�,�1�)  (2,566)  (�,��0)  (2,566)
Balances per statements of cash flows   (�,01�)  (1,851)  (�,���)  (1,851)
 
(b) Cash at bank and on hand 
These are non-interest bearing. 
 
 
Note 10  Current assets – Trade and other Receivables 
 
Trade receivables   1�,���   8,440   �,9�9   8,440 
Provision for doubtful receivables   (��)  (84)  (��)  (84)
   1�,�1�   8,356   �,���   8,356 

Other receivables   ��1 682 ��� 682
Accrued revenue   ��0   562   ��0   562 
Prepayments   �0�   296   �0�   296 
   1�,���   9,896   10,���  9,896 
 
(a) Bad and Doubtful Trade Receivables 
The Group has recognised a loss of $829,000 (2005: $84,000) in respect of bad and doubtful trade receivables during the year ended 30 
June 2006, as shown in the income statement. 

(b) Other receivables 
These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Collateral is not normally obtained.

(c) Deposits paid 
These amounts generally arise from transactions where orders for equipment are made, and the supplier requires a deposit to be paid. 
Collateral is not normally obtained. 

(d) Effective interest rate 
All trade and other receivables are not subject to interest. 

(e) Credit risk 
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to current receivables, as the Group has a large number of customers, internationally 
dispersed. Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the Group. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note 1�  Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment
 
     Leasehold   Leased
Consolidated   Work in Freehold improve- Plant & plant & 
   progress land ments equipment equipment Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1� October �00� 
- Cost    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Net book amount    -    -    -    -    -    -  
 
Period ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Additions    66   -    -    2,331   1,457   3,854 
Additions through acquisition of entities   5   1,217   -    45,098   -    46,320 
Disposals    -    -    -    (93)  -    (93)
Depreciation expense    -    -    -    (1,512)  (18)  (1,530)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2005   71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
 
At �0 June �00� 
- Cost    71   1,217   -    47,336   1,457   50,081 
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    -    (1,512)  (18)  (1,530)
Net book amount    71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
 
Year ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount    71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
Additions    593  -  35   5,334   3,986   9,948 
Additions through acquisition of entities   - - - 34,785   - 34,785
Disposals   -  (1,217) -  (168)  (389)  (1,774)
Exchange differences    - - - (4,348) -  (4,348)
Transfer of completed assets to other PP&E  (542) - -  542   -  
Depreciation expense   - -  (1)  (4,379)  (257)  (4,636)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006   122  -  34   77,590   4,779   82,525 
 

Note 11  Current assets – Inventories 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw materials and stores - at cost   ��0  160  ��0  160 
Work in progress - at cost   �1   55   �1   55 
   ��1   215   ��1   215 

(a) Inventory expense 
Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2006 amounted to $1,862,000 (2005: $1,686,000).
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Note 1�  Non current assets – Property, plant and equipment (continued)
 
     Leasehold   Leased
Consolidated   Work in Freehold improve- Plant & plant & 
   progress land ments equipment equipment Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At �0 June �00� 
- Cost    122   -    35   83,390   5,028   88,574 
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    (1)  (5,800)  (248)  (6,049)
Net book amount    122   -    34   77,590   4,779   82,525 

     Leasehold   Leased
Parent Entity   Work in Freehold improve- Plant & plant & 
   progress land ments equipment equipment Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1� October �00� 
- Cost    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Net book amount    -    -    -    -    -    -  
 
Year ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount    -    -    -    -    -    -  
Additions    66   -    -    2,331   1,457   3,854 
Additions through acquisition of entities   5   1,217   -    45,098   -    46,320 
Disposals    -    -    -    (93)  -    (93)
Depreciation expense    -    -    -    (1,512)  (18)  (1,530)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2005   71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
 
At �0 June �00� 
- Cost    71   1,217   -    47,336   1,457   50,081 
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    -    (1,512)  (18)  (1,530)
Net book amount    71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
  
Year ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount    71   1,217   -    45,824   1,439   48,551 
Additions    580  -  35   3,163   3,986   7,764 
Additions through acquisition of entities   -   - - - - -
Disposals   -  (1,217) -  (168)  (389)  (1,774)
Transfer of completed assets to other PP&E  (542) -   542  -  -  
Depreciation expense    -   -  (1)  (3,164)  (257)  (3,421)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006   109   -    34   46,197   4,779   51,119 
 
At �0 June �00� 
- Cost    109   -    35   50,845   5,028   56,016 
Accumulated depreciation    -    -    (1)  (4,648)  (248)  (4,897)
Net book amount    109  -  34   46,197   4,779   51,119 

Non-current assets pledged as security

Refer to note 19 for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the parent entity and its controlled entities.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note 1�  Non-current assets – Other financial assets 

 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shares in Subsidiaries (Note 31)   -    -    1�,��1   -  
   -    -    1�,��1   -  
 
These financial assets are carried at cost in the Parent entity.
  
 

Note 1�  Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Doubtful debts   19   -   19   - 
Employee benefits   ���   163   ��9   163 
Other provisions/accruals   ��   -   �1   - 
Tax Losses   ���   -    ���   -  
   1,�0�   163   1,11�   163 

Amounts recognised directly in equity 
IPO Costs   ��0   881   ��0   881 
Deferred tax assets   1,���   1,044   1,���   1,044 

Movements:  
Opening balance at 1 July   1,0��   -    1,0��   -  
Credited (charged) to the income statement (note 8)   1�0   163  ��   163 
Credited (charged) to equity   (��0)  881   (��0)  881 
Movement in tax losses recognised   ���   -    ���   -
Under provision in prior year   1��   -    1��   -
Closing balance at 30 June   1,���   1,044   1,���   1,044 
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Note  1�  Non-current assets – Intangible assets
 
 
Consolidated Sign on Fee Goodwill Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1� October �00� 
Cost  -    -    -  
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  -    -    -  
Net book amount  -    -    -  

Period ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount  -    -    -  
Additions  1,000   5,094   6,094 
Amortisation charge  (109)  -    (109)
Closing net book amount  891   5,094   5,985 
 
At �0 June �00� 
Cost  1,000   5,094   6,094 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (109)  -    (109)
Net book amount  891   5,094   5,985 
 
Year ended �0 June �00� 
Opening net book amount  891   5,094   5,985 
Additions  -    11,215   11,215 
Impairment charge  -    (56)  (56)
Exchange differences  -    (1,354)   (1,354)  
Amortisation charge  (199) -  (199)
Closing net book amount  692   14,899   15,591 
 
At �0 June �00� 
Cost  1,000   14,955   15,955 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (308)  (56)  (364)
Net book amount  692   14,899   15,591 

 
(a) Impairment tests for goodwill 

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) identified according to country of operation. 
A summary of goodwill allocation is presented below.
 
  �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000

Australia  �,�9�  5,094 
New Zealand  �,�0�   -
  1�,�99  5,094 
 
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on fair value less costs to sell. These calculations are based on management 
determined fair values, with reference to budgeted margins, past performance and its expectations for the future. Industry reports are 
consistent with management forecasts.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note 1�  Current liabilities – Trade and other payables

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables   �,�1�   496   �,�9�   496 
Deferred consideration payable   �,���   -    -    -  
Other payables   �,���   1,959   1,��1  1,959 
   1�,��1   2,455   �,0�9   2,455 
 

Note 1�  Current liabilities – Borrowings 

Secured 
Bank overdrafts   �,�1�   2,566   �,��0   2,566 
Bank bills   �,�00   -    �,�00   -  
Lease liabilities (Note 28)   ���   126   ���   126 
   9,���   2,692   9,1��   2,692 

(a) Interest rate risk exposure 

Details of the Group’s exposure to interest rate charges on interest bearing liabilities are set out in note 19.

(b) Fair value disclosures

Details of the fair value of borrowings are set out in note 19.

(c) Security

Details of the security relating to each of the secured liabilities and further information on the bank overdrafts and bank loans are set out in 
note 19.

Note 1�  Current liabilities – Provisions
 
Annual Leave   9��   589   �0�   589 
Long Service Leave   ��   34   ��   34 
Redundancy   -    18   -    18 
   9��   641   ���   641
 

Note 1�  Non-current assets – Intangible assets (continued)

(b) Key assumptions used for fair value less costs to sell

Management have determined the fair value less costs to sell using past experience and knowledge of the industry, which are consistent with 
industry benchmarks. The key assumption in the determination of recoverable amount is the Groups market share in key locations.

(c) Impairment charge

The impairment charge of $56,000 (2005: nil) arose in the Australian CGU, following the consolidation of business activities of previous 
acquisitions.

(d) Sign on fees 

Sign on fees relate to the payments made on initial acquisition of businesses, to retain key staff in the Group for minimum specified periods.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note 19  Non-current liabilities – Borrowings 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Secured 
Bank bills   ��,���   3,870   1�,���   3,870 
Lease liabilities (note 28)   �,10�   1,282   �,10�   1,282 
Total secured non-current borrowings   ��,��9   5,152   1�,���   5,152 
Total non-current borrowings   ��,��9   5,152   1�,���   5,152 

(a) Total secured liabilities 

The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:  
Bank overdrafts and bank bills   ��,�0�   6,436   ��,�1�   6,436 
Lease liabilities   �,���   1,408   �,���   1,408 
Total secured liabilities   ��,���   7,844   ��,9��   7,844 
 
(b) Assets pledged as security 

The bank loans and overdraft of the Group are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Group. 

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the lessor in the 
event of default. 

(c) Financing arrangements 

Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit: 

Credit standby arrangements 

Total facilities 
Bank overdrafts   �,���   6,000   �,000   6,000 
Commercial bills   ��,�1�   20,000   ��,000   20,000 
Equipment leasing   9,000   6,000   9,000   6,000 
   �0,���   32,000   ��,000   32,000 

Used at balance date 
Bank overdrafts   �,�19   2,566   �,��0   2,566 
Commercial bills   ��,�1�   4,000   19,�00   4,000 
Equipment leasing   �,���   1,408   �,���   1,408 
   ��,���   7,974   ��,���   7,974 

Unused at balance date
Bank overdrafts   �,1��   3,434   �,��0   3,434 
Commercial bills   1�,�0�   16,000   �,�00   16,000 
Equipment leasing   �,���   4,592   �,���   4,592 
   ��,09�   24,026   1�,���   24,026 

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time, is subject to annual review and repayable on demand from the bank. The unsecured 
bill acceptance facility may be drawn at any time and is subject to annual review.

The current interest rates are 7.35% on the bill facility, 8.77% on the overdraft and 7.85% on the equipment leasing (2005 - 6.87%, 8.70% and 
7.50% respectively). 
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Note 19  Non-current liabilities – Borrowings (continued)

(d) Interest rate risk exposures

The following table sets out the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, including the contractual repricing dates and the effective weighted 
average interest rate by maturity periods.

Exposures rise predominately from liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the Group intends to hold fixed rate liabilities to maturity.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

 Floating
Interest 

Rate
$’000

Fixed Interest Rate

1 year  
or less
$’000

Over
1 to 

� years
$’000

 Total

$’000

 Over
 � years 

$’000

Over
 � to � 
years
$’000

 Over
� to � 
years
$’000

 Over 
� to � 
years
$’000

�00� 
Bank overdraft (note 17)   4,318   -    -    -    -    -    -    4,318 
Bills payable   -    38,716   -    -    -    -    -    38,716 
Lease Liabilities (note 28)   -    547   531   562   1,233   1,781   -    4,654 
   4,318   39,263   531   562   1,233   1,781   -    47,688 

Weighted average interest rate  8.77% 8.40% 7.85% 7.85% 7.85% 7.85% 

�00� 
Bank overdraft (note 17)   2,566   -    -    -    -    -    -    2,566 
Bills payable   -    4,000   -    -    -    -    -    4,000 
Lease Liabilities (notes 28)   -    126   1,282   -    -    -    -    1,408 
   2,566   4,126   1,282  -   -  -   -    7,974 

Weighted average interest rate  7.59% 7.50% 7.50%

(e) Fair value

The carrying amounts and fair values of borrowings at balance date are:

  �00� �00� 2005 2005
  Carying  Carying
  amount Fair Value amount Fair value
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

On balance sheet 
Non traded financial liabilities 
Bank Overdrafts   �,�19   �,�19   2,566   2,566 
Bills payable   ��,�1�   ��,�1�   4,000   4,000 
Lease Liabilities   �,���   �,���   1,408   1,408 
   ��,���   ��,���   7,974   7,974 

None of the classes are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form.

Fair value is inclusive of costs which would be incurred on a settlement of a liability. The fair value of borrowings is based upon market prices 
where a market exists or by discounting the expected future cash flows by the current interest rates for liabilities with similar risk profiles.
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Note �0  Non-current liabilities – Deferred tax liabilities

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Prepayments  - - - -
Identifiable intangibles   �0�   314   �0�   314 
Depreciation   1,���   323   1,0��   323 
   1,���   637   1,��0   637 
Deferred tax liabilities   1,���   637   1,��0   637 
 
Movements 

Opening balance at 1 July   ���   -    ���   -  
Charged/(credited) to the income statement (note 8)   9�1   637   ���   637 
Under provision in prior year   ��   -    ��   -  
Closing balance at 30 June   1,���   637   1,��0   637 
 

Note �1  Non-current liabilities – Provisions 
Acquisition adjustments   -    241   -    241 
   -    241   -    241 
 
Movements  

Opening balance at 1 July   ��1   -    ��1   -  
Amounts transferred to current other payables   (��1)  241   (��1)  241 
Closing balance at 30 June   -    241   -    241 

Note ��  Contributed equity 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  Shares Shares $’000 $’000

(a) Share capital        

Ordinary shares    
Fully paid   ��,�99,��9   62,599,679   �9,���   49,463 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Note ��  Contributed equity (continued) 

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital: 

Details  Date Issued Shares Issue Price $’000

Issue of fully paid ordinary shares during the reporting period 
Econ acquisition consideration  14 Dec 2004  1,500,000  $1.20  1,800 
As per Prospectus dated 17 November 2004  16 Dec 2004  41,666,667  $1.20  50,000 
GFB Engineering acquisition consideration  06 May 2005  229,694  $1.01  232 

Issued for no consideration: 
Exisiting shareholders  10 Nov 2004  14,583,333  - - 
Executive share plan  13 Dec 2004  4,166,666  - - 
Professional services in relation to the Prospectus  13 Dec 2004  416,667  - - 
Employee Share Plan  16 Dec 2004  36,652  - - 
      ��,0�� 

Less: Transaction costs arising from share issues      (3,670)
Add: Tax effect of deductible IPO Costs      1,101
Balance  �0 Jun �00�  ��,�99,��9    �9,��� 
Balance  �0 Jun �00�  ��,�99,��9    �9,��� 

(i) Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the number of 
and amounts paid on the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each 
share is entitled to one vote. 

(ii) Employee Share Plan 
Information relating to the employee share plan, including details of shares issued under the plan as employee gift shares, is set out in  
note 25. 

(iii) Director/Executive Option Plan 
Information relating to the Director/Executive Option Plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial 
period and options outstanding at the end of the financial period are set out in note 25. 

(iv) Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
The company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have all or part of their 
dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid cash. At the date of this report, the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan had not been activated. 

(v) Directors and specified executives 
Disclosures relating to directors and specified executives are set out in note 25.
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Note ��  Reserves and retained profits
 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Reserves 

Share-based payments reserve   -   19  -    19
Foreign currency translation reserve   (1,�00)  -    -    -  
   (1,�00) 19  -    19

Movements: 
Share-based payments reserve 
Balance 1 July   19   -    19   -  
Option Expense (Credit)   (1�)  19   (1�)  19 
Transfer to Retained Earnings   (�)  -    (�)  -  
Balance 30 June   -    19   -    19 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
Balance 1 July   -    -    -    -  
Currency translation differences arising during the year   (1,�00)  -    -    -  
Balance 30 June   (1,�00)  -    -    -  
 
(b) Retained profits 

Movements in retained profits were as follows:  
Balance 1 July   �,�9�   -    �,�9�   -  
Net profit/(loss) for the year   1,�9�   4,295   (��9)  4,295 
Dividends   (�,�1�)  -    (�,�1�)  -  
Transfer from Share-based payments reserve   �   -    �   -  
Balance 30 June   �,1��   4,295   ���   4,295 
 
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves 

(i) Share-based payments reserve 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised. There are no options on issue at 
30 June 2006.  

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve 
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described 
in note 1(d). The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed of.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Dividends
 
                             Parent entity 
    �00� 2005
     $’000 $’000

(a) Ordinary shares 
Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2005 of 4.5 cents (2004 - not applicable) per fully paid share paid on  
21 October 2005 (2004 - not applicable) 
Fully franked based on tax paid @ 30% - 4.5 cents per share     �,�1�  N/A

(b) Franked dividends
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30%   ���  -

The above amounts represent the balance of the available franking credits as at the end of the financial year. 

Note ��  Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Directors

The following persons were directors of Verticon Group Limited during the financial year:

(i) Chairman (Executive)
Noel Henderson (from 17 March 2006)

(ii) Chairman (Non Executive)
Michael Butler (from 1 July 2005 - 21 February 2006)

(iii) Executive Directors
Rob Lockett, Managing Director (from 7 June 2006)
Mark Kevin, Managing Director (from 1 July 2005 - 26 April 2006)
Denis Tomasel, Director

(iv) Non Executive Directors
David Wieland
David Goldberger
Sam Fink (from 26 April 2006)

(b) Other key management personnel

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the group, directly or indirectly 
during the financial year:

Name Position Employer 

Andrew Torrington Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary (from 9 January 2006) Verticon Group Limited
Daniel Smith General Manager, New Zealand (from 1 December 2005) Verticon New Zealand Ltd.
Jason Redman General Manager, New South Wales (from 1 September 2005) Verticon Group Limited
Rod Samimi General Manager, Queensland Verticon Group Limited
Leon Key General Manager, Victoria (from 1 July 2005 to 31 January 2006) Verticon Group Limited
Peter Cooper Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary (from 1 July 2005 to 6 January 2006) Verticon Group Limited
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Note ��  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(c) Key management personnel compensation

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director and other key management personnel of Verticon 
Group Limited are set out in the following tables:

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $ $ $ $

Short term employee benefits   1,���,�9�   634,764   1,���,0�0   634,764 
Post-employment benefits   19�,���   249,226   19�,���   249,226 
Share-based payments   -    5,024,535   -    5,024,535 
   1,��9,�1�   5,908,525   1,�1�,�0�   5,908,525 

The company has taken advantage of the relief provided by ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed remuneration 
disclosures to the directors’ report. The relevant information can be found in sections A-C of the remuneration report on pages 12–14.

(d) Share based compensation

(i) Grant of options
Options may be granted under the Director/Executive Option Plan which was approved by the Company in a general meeting. Under this 
Plan, the Board may offer directors and other key personnel of the company options which may be exercised for new shares. The Board has 
the discretion to set the issue price, exercise price and other conditions applying to the options.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

There are no options on issue as at the reporting date.

(ii) Executive Share Plan
No shares were issued under the Executive Share Plan, during the year.

(iii) Employee Share Plan
No shares were issued under the Employee Share Plan, during the year.

(e) Equity instrument disclosures relating to Directors and other key management personnel

(i) Options provided as remuneration
Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director is set out below.
The other key personnel of the company were not provided with options as remuneration.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Balance at 
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Granted during 
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Exercised 
during the 

year
Other 

changes

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Vested and 
Exercisable 

at the end of 
the year

�00� 

Name

Directors of Verticon Group Limited 

Mark Kevin  400,000   -  -  (400,000)  -  -  

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Granted during 
the year as 

compensation

Exercised 
during the 

year
Other 

changes

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Vested and 
Exercisable 

at the end of 
the year

�00� 

Name

Directors of Verticon Group Limited 

Mark Kevin  - 400,000   -  -  400,000  -
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Note  ��  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(ii) Share holdings         
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Verticon Group Limited and other key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are set out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting 
period as compensation.

 �00�  Balance at the Changes during Balance at the
Name start of the year the year end of the year

Directors of Verticon Group Limited 

Ordinary shares 
Noel Henderson  -    558,424   558,424 
David Wieland  14,618,333   1,620,000   16,238,333 
David Goldberger  14,618,333   1,620,000   16,238,333 
Sam Fink  8,000   88,000   96,000 
Rob Lockett  -    -    -  
Denis Tomasel  2,487,166   (63,000)  2,424,166 
Michael Butler  120,000   (120,000)  -  
Mark Kevin  34,166   (34,166)  -  
 
Other Key Management Personnel of the Company 

Ordinary shares 
Andrew Torrington  -    100,000   100,000 
Daniel Smith  -    2,437,189   2,437,189 
Jason Redman  -    -    - 
Rodney Samimi  -    -    -  
  

�00�  Balance at the Changes during Balance at the
Name start of the year the year end of the year

Directors of Verticon Group Limited 

Ordinary shares 
David Wieland  1   14,618,333   14,618,334 
David Goldberger  1   14,618,333   14,618,334 
Denis Tomasel  -    2,487,166   2,487,166 
Michael Butler  -    120,000   120,000 
Mark Kevin  -    34,166   34,166 
 
Other Key Management Personnel of the Company 

Ordinary shares 
Peter Cooper  -    40,833   40,833 
Rodney Samimi  -    -    -  
Stephen Gunn  -    2,534,166   2,534,166 
Charles Abela  -    1,500,833   1,500,833 
Leon Key  -    10,309   10,309 
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Note ��  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(f) Other transactions with directors and other key management personnel 

(i) Directors of Verticon Group Limited
Directors, David Wieland and David Goldberger, are also directors of Peninsula Construction Group Ltd, which was provided with crane 
hire services during the year, and also provided Verticon minor property services during the year. These services were based on normal 
commercial terms.

A Director, Denis Tomasel, was a part owner of Seca Cranes. Deferred consideration totalling $224,000 is payable to the owners of 
Seca Cranes.

(ii) Other key management personnel of the Group
Daniel Smith, was a part owner of Daniel Smith Industries. Refer to note 30 for details of the consideration paid or payable for the assets of 
Daniel Smith Industries.

Daniel Smith, is a Director of Daniel Smith Industries Limited. Verticon provided crane hire services to Daniel Smith Industries Limited on 
normal commercial hire terms during the year. Daniel Smith Industries Limited provided labour and transport services to the Group during  
the year.

Jason Redman, was a part owner of Fire Up Hire Pty Ltd and Fire Up Cranes and Rigging Pty Ltd. Refer to note 30 for details of the 
consideration paid for the businesses of Fire Up.

Aggregate amounts of each types of other transactions with key management personnel of Verticon Group Limited:

    �00� 2005
    $’000 $’000

Amounts recognised as revenue 

Crane hire     ��1   -  

Amounts recognised as expense 

Labour hire     ��   -  
Transport      11�   -  
Property services     �   14 
     1��   14 

Aggregate amounts of assets at balance date relating to the above types of other transactions with key management personnel of the Group:

Assets 

Current receivables     �0�   -  

Aggregate amounts payable to key management personnel of the Group at balance date relating to the above types of other transactions:

Liabilities 

Current payables     �,�10   1 
Non current provisions     -    224 
     �,�10   225 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and non-
related audit firms: 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Assurance Services 
Audit Services 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Australian Firm:
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work  
under the Corporations Act 2001   1��,�00   110,000   1�0,000   110,000 
Total remuneration for audit services   1��,�00   110,000   1�0,000   110,000 

Other Assurance Services 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Australian Firm: 
Due diligence services   �90,���   25,000   �90,���   25,000 
Investigating accountant services for IPO   -    727,686   -    727,686 
AIFRS accounting services   �,000   8,194   �,000   8,194 
Other Services   ��,��0   -    -    -  
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers firms for other assurance services   -    83,393   -    83,393 
Total remuneration for other assurance services   ���,�0�   844,273   �9�,���   844,273 
Total remuneration for assurance services   ��0,�0�   954,273   �1�,���   954,273 

(b) Taxation Services 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm Tax Compliance Services   �9,99�   7,800   �9,99�   7,800 
Related practices of Pricewaterhouse Coopers Australian firm:     
Tax Compliance Services   �,�19   -     -     -   
Total remuneration for taxation services   ��,�1�   7,800   �9,99�   7,800 

Note ��  Contingencies

Verticon Group Limited had no contingent assets or contingent liabilities outstanding at 30 June 2006.
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Note ��  Commitments 

(a) Capital Commitments 
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment payable: 
Within one year   �1�   2,191   1�9   2,191 
Later than one year but not later than five years  - - - -
Later than five years  - - - -
   �1�   2,191   1�9   2,191 

(b) Lease Commitments 
(i) Operating leases  
The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within 1 to 5 years. The leases have varying terms, 
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 
Within one year   ���   377   ���   377 
Later than one year but not later than five years   ��1   526   ��9   526 
Later than five years   -    2   -    2 
   91�   905   ���   905 

(ii) Finance Leases 
The Group leases various plant and equipment with a carrying amount of $4,782,000 (2005 - $1,439,000) under finance leases expiring 
within 3 to 5 years.  At expiry under the terms of the leases, the Group acquires the leased asset at the residual value at that date. 
 
Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:
Within one year   ���   232   ���   232 
Later than one year but not later than five years   �,���   1,581   �,���   1,581 
Later than five years   -    -    -    -  
Minimum lease payments   �,���   1,813   �,���   1,813 

Future finance charges   (1,�1�)   (405)  (1,�1�)   (405) 
Recognised as a liability   �,���   1,408   �,���   1,408 

Representing lease liabilities: 
Current (note 17)   ���   126   ���   126 
Non-current (note 19)   �,10�   1,282   �,10�   1,282 
   �,���   1,408   �,���   1,408 

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 7.85% (2005 - 7.50%)

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note �9  Related party transactions

(a) Parent Entities
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Verticon Group Limited.

(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 31.

(c) Directors and other key management personnel
Disclosures relating to directors and other key management personnel are set out in note 25.

(d) Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with subsidiaries.
 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales of goods and services 
Crane and labour hire income  -   -    �1�   -  

Purchases of goods 
Crane hire expenses   -   -    11�   -  

Labour hire   -   -    �1�   -  

Tax consolidation legislation
Current tax payable assumed from wholly-owned tax consolidated entities   -    -    1��   -  

(e) Outstanding balances 
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

Current receivables 
Subsidiaries   -    -   1��   -  

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation to any outstanding balances, and no expense has been recognised in respect of 
bad or doubtful debts due from related parties. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note �0  Business combination 

(a) Acquisition of Fire Up Cranes and Rigging 

On 1 September 2005 the parent entity acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Fire Up Cranes and Rigging Pty Ltd and Fire Up Hire  
Pty Ltd. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $5,554,000 and net profit before tax of $1,015,000 to the Group for the period from  
1 September 2005 to 30 June 2006. 

At the date of acquisition, the acquired entities were involved in the business of crane and hoist hire and crane operation and rigging 
services. 

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 $’000
Purchase consideration 
Cash paid  4,850 
Direct costs relating to the acquisition  232 
Total purchase consideration  5,082 
 
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired  3,628 
Goodwill  1,454 
 
The goodwill is attributable to the synergies expected to arise after the company’s acquisition of the new subsidiary, penetration of the 
New South Wales market, existing customer relationships and the workforce. The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are based on 
independent valuations. No acquisition provisions were created. 

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:
 
    Acquiree’s carrying amount  Fair Value
    $’000 $’000

Cash     455   455 
Trade receivables     745   745 
Prepayments     47   47 
Plant and equipment     1,668   3,069 
Employee benefit obligations     (56)  (56)
Trade payables     (517)  (517)
Income tax payable     (115)  (115)
Net assets     2,227   3,628 
Net identifiable assets acquired      3,628 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note �0  Business combination (continued) 

(b) Acquisition of the assets and business of Daniel Smith Industries Limited (NZ) 
On 1 December 2005 the parent entity acquired the assets and business of Daniel Smith Industries Limited, a company domiciled in  
New Zealand. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $7,440,000 and net profit before tax of $2,683,000 to the Group for the period from  
1 December 2005 to 30 June 2006. 

At the date of acquisition the acquired business was involved in the business of crane and hoist hire and crane operation and rigging 
services. 

Details of the fair value of the assets acquired on 1 December 2005 and goodwill are as follows: 

 $’000
Purchase consideration 
Cash paid  32,002 
Deferred Consideration  9,222
Direct costs relating to the acquisition  310 
Total purchase consideration  41,534 

Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (plant and equipment)  31,716 
Cash  57 
Goodwill  9,762

The goodwill is attributable to the penetration of the New Zealand market, the expertise of Daniel Smith in the wind farm industry, the name 
of Daniel Smith in Australia and New Zealand, synergies expected to arise after the company’s acquisition of the new business, customer 
awareness and the workforce. The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired are based on independent valuations. No acquisition provisions 
were created.

The deferred consideration is payable 12 months after the initial acquisition, based on a pre-determined multiple of earnings over the initial 
12 months following acquisition. Directors have estimated this liability based on the current forecast level of earnings over that period, 
discounted to Net Present Value.

If these two acquisitions had occurred on 1 July 2005, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit for the year ended 30 April 2006 would 
have been $56,390,000 and $3,120,000 respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by 
adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair 
value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 July 2005, together with the consequential  
tax effects.

    �00� 2005
    $’000 $’000

(c) Outflow of cash to acquire businesses, net of cash acquired 
Cash consideration     ��,�9�   42,366 
Less: Balances acquired 
Cash     (�1�)   -  
Outflow of cash     ��,���   42,366 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note �1  Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in note 1(d): 
  
Name of entity Country of incorporation Class of shares                       Equity holding
   �00� 2005
   % %

Fire Up Cranes & Rigging Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100  -  
Fire Up Hire Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100  -  
Verticon Neon Street Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100  -    
Verticon New Zealand Limited New Zealand Ordinary 100  -  
 

Note ��  Events occurring after the balance sheet date 
Since the end of the reporting period, no reportable events have occurred.

Note ��  Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities
 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit/(Loss) from ordinary activities after related income tax   1,�9�   4,296  (��9)  4,296 
Depreciation and amortisation   �,���   1,638   �,��1   1,638 
Non-cash finance costs - amortised   1�1   21   9�   21 
Accrued interest on deferred earn out liability   ���  - - -
Net Gain (loss) on sale of non-current assets  (���)  - (���)  -
Impariment of goodwill   ��   -  ��   -
Doubtful debts   -    84   -    84 
Non-cash employee benefits expense - share based payments  (1�)  19  (1�)  19 
Net exchange differences  (1�0)  4   ��   4 

Change in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions: 
(Increase)/decrease in assets: 
Trade debtors  (�,���) (8,327) (�90) (8,327)
Inventories  (�0) (93) (�0) (93)
Deposits paid  (1) (265) (1) (265)
Prepayments  (�9) (296) (�) (296)
Accrued revenue   1��  (562)  1��  (562)
Other receivables   1��  -  11�  -
Deferred tax assets  (���)  250  (���)  250 
Current tax assets  (1��)  39  (1��)  39 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities: 
Trade creditors   1,���   496   1,���   496 
Employee provisions   ���  (614)  �01  (614)
Current tax liabilities  (90�)  1,241  (�09)  1,241 
Deferred tax liabilities   1,0��   352   �0�   352 
Other operating liabilities   ��   1,868  (�9�)  1,868 
Net cash inflow from operating activities   �,��1   151   �,���   151 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Non-cash financing and investing activities 

 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of finance leases   �,9��   1,457   �,9��   1,457 

Note ��  Earnings per share 
 
                          Consolidated  
    �00� 2005
    Cents Cents

(a) Basic earnings per share 

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company     �.�   8.6 

(b) Dilluted earnings per share 

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company     �.�   8.6 

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share 
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in calculating basic earnings per share  1,�9�   4,295 

Diluated earnings per share 
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in calculating diluted earnings per share  1,�9�   4,295 
 
(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
 
                        Consolidated 
    �00� 2005
    Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
earnings per share    ��,�99,��9   49,773,255 
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share     -    -  
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
diluted earnings per share     ��,�99,��9   49,773,255 

At 30 June 2006, no options were on issue. 

The basic earnings per share calculation has been made in accordance with AASB 133. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Share-based payments 

(a) Employee Share Plan 

The Board may offer shares to any full-time or part-time employee of the Verticon Group Limited at its discretion. Shares issued under the 
Plan will be fully paid, ranked equally with other shares from the date of issue, and will have the same entitlements as other shares. However, 
under the terms upon which Shares are issued, certain dealing restrictions will apply.

Employees who acquire shares issued as “tax paid” will not be permitted to deal in the shares for 3 years and a holding lock will be imposed 
by the Registry. This restriction will be lifted if the employee ceases to be employed by a Verticon Group Limited.  

 
                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  Number Number Number Number

No shares were issued under the plan to eligible employees  
during the period   -    36,652   -    36,652 

 
(b) Executive Share Plan 

Information relating to the executive share plan, including details of shares issued under this plan, is set out in note 25. 

(c) Director/Executive Option Plan 

Information relating to the Director/Executive Option Plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial 
period and options outstanding at the end of the financial period are set out in note 25. 

(d) Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

The Company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have all or part of their 
dividend entitlements satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid cash. At the date of this report, the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan had not been activated. 

(e) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense were  
as follows: 

                          Consolidated                              Parent entity 
  �00� 2005 �00� 2005
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shares issued under employee share plan   -    -    -    -  
Shares issued under executive share plan   -    -    -    -  
Options issued under director/executive option plan   (1�)  19   (1�)  19 
Shares issued under dividend reinvestment plan   -    -    -    -  
   (1�)  19   (1�)  19

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs 

(1) Reconciliation of equity reported under previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to 
equity under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS) 

(a) At the date of transition to AIFRS: 1� October �00� 

Verticon Group Limited was incorporated on 15 October 2004. The Group’s first full-year financial report was for the year period ended 30 
June 2005.

For the period ended 30 June 2005 Verticon Group Limited did not have any subsidiaries, therefore this AIFRS note reflects both the 
consolidated entity and the parent entity. 

(b) At the end of the last reporting period under previous AGAAP: �0 June �00� 

 
     Effect of  
    Previous   transition to  
    AGAAP   AIFRS   AIFRS 
   Notes   $’000   $’000   $’000 

ASSETS  
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents     715   -    715 
Receivables     9,068  -  9,068 
Inventories     215  -  215 
Other     828  -  828 
Total current assets     10,���   -    10,��� 

Non-current assets  
Property, plant & equipment     48,551  -  48,551 
Intangible assets    4(b), 4(c)   6,062   (77)  5,985 
Deferred tax assets   4(e)  193   851   1,044 
Total non-current assets     ��,�0�   ���   ��,��0 
Total assets     ��,���   ���   ��,�0� 

LIABILITIES  
Current liabilities  
Payables     2,455  -  2,455 
Interest bearing liabilities     2,692  -  2,692 
Provisions     641  -  641 
Other     811  -  811 
Total current liabilities     �,�99   -    �,�99 

Non-current liabilities  
Interest bearing liabilities     5,282   (130)  5,152 
Deferred tax liabilities   4(e)  662   (25)   637 
Provisions     241  -  241 
Total non-current liabilities     �,1��   (1��)  �,0�0 
Total liabilities     1�,���   (1��)  1�,��9 
Net assets     ��,���   9�9   ��,��� 

EQUITY  
Contributed equity     48,362  1101  49,463 
Reserves    4(a)   -    19   19 
Retained earnings    4(e)   4,486   (191)   4,295 
Total equity     ��,���   9�9   ��,��� 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)

(�) Reconciliation of profit under previous AGAAP to profit under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS) 

      Reconciliation of profit for the period ended �0 June �00� 

 
     Effect of  
    Previous   transition to  
    AGAAP   AIFRS   AIFRS 
   Notes   $’000   $’000   $’000 

Revenue   4(d)  ��,��1  (9�)  ��,��� 
Other income    4(d) - 1  1 
Cost of goods sold     (1,281) -  (1,281)
Subcontractors     (1,179) -  (1,179)
Depreciation and amortisation expense    4(b), 4(c)   (1,712)  74   (1,638)
Finance costs   4(c)  (256) (21)  (277)
Employee benefits expense    4(a)   (11,177)  (19)  (11,196)
Equipment hire and consumables used     (1,217) -  (1,217)
Other expenses   4(d)  (1,549) 92  (1,457)
Profit before income tax     �,0�0   ��   �,10� 
Income tax expense     (1,584) (���)  (1,809)
Profit from continuing operations     �,���   (191)   �,�9� 
Profit from discontinued operations     -    -    -  
Profit for the period     �,���  (191)   �,�9� 
Profit attributable to minority interest     -    -    -  
Profit attributable to members of Verticon Group Limited     �,���   (191)   �,�9� 
 
(�) Reconciliation of cash flow statement for the year ended �0 June �00� 

The adoption of AIFRSs has not resulted in any material adjustments to the cash flow statement. 

(�) Notes to the reconciliations 

 (a) Share Based Payments  

Under AASB 2 Share based Payment from 1 July 2004 the Group is required to recognise an expense for those options that were issued to 
employees under the Verticon Option Plan after 7 November 2002 but that had not vested by 1 January 2005. The effect of this is: 

 (i) At 30 June 2005  
For the Group there has been a decrease in retained earnings of $19,000 and a corresponding increase in reserves. 

 (ii) For the year ended 30 June 2005  
For the Group there has been an increase in employee benefits expense of $19,000. 

 (b) Business Combinations  

The Group has made a number of business acquisitions since inception. The effect of applying AASB 3 Business Combinations to the 
business combinations is goodwill ceases to be amortised, and is instead tested annually for impairment. The effect of this is: 

 (i) At 30 June 2005  
For the Group there has been an increase in retained earnings of $162,000 and a corresponding increase in intangible assets relating to 
previously amortised goodwil.

For the Group there has been an decrease in retained earnings of $109,000 and a corresponding increase in intangible assets relating to 
amortisation of the sign on fee. 

 (ii) For the year ended 30 June 2005  
For the Group there has been a decrease in depreciation and amortisation expense of $53,000. 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note ��  Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued) 

(c) Deferred finance costs

Under previous AGAAP, deferred financing costs were classified as a non-current asset and amortised over the term of the loan. Under 
AIFRS the deferred financing costs are classified as a reduction in borrowings and recognised as a finance cost over the term of the loan, 
using the effective interest rate.

(i) At 30 June 2005
For the Group there has been an decrease in intangible assets of $130,000 and a corresponding decrease in interest bearing liabilities.

(ii) For the year ended 30 June 2005
For the Group there has been a decrease in depreciation and amortisation expense of $21,000 and a corresponding increase in finance 
costs of $21,000. There is no effect on the profit for the year.

(d) Proceeds on sale of non-current assets  

Under previous AGAAP, deferred financing costs were classified as a non-current asset and amortised over the term of the loan. Under 
AIFRS the deferred financing costs are classified as a reduction in borrowings and recognised as a finance cost over the term of the loan, 
using the effective interest rate.

(i) At 30 June 2005
There is no effect on the Group.

(ii) For the year ended 30 June 2005
For the Group there has been a decrease in other income by $92,000 and a corresponding decrease in other expenses. There is no effect on 
the profit for the year.

(e) Deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability

Under previous AGAAP income tax expense was calculated by reference to the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. 
Deferred tax was not recognised in relation to amounts recognised directly in equity. The adoption of AIFRS has resulted in a change in 
accounting policy. The application of AASB 112 Income Taxes has resulted in the recognition of deferred tax assets on the share issue costs 
incurred by the Group.

 (i) At 30 June 2005  
The effects on the deferred tax asset on the adoption of AIFRS are as follows (tax rate 30%):
 
 �0 June
 �00�
 $’000

Application of AASB 112 to adjustments arising from adoption of other AASBs 
Share issue costs      1,101 
Share issue costs deducted in the year     (221)
Employee benefits     (29)
Increase in deferred tax asset  851 

The effects on the deferred tax liability on the adoption of AIFRS are as follows (tax rate 30%): 
 
Application of AASB 112 to adjustments arising from adoption of other AASBs 
Identifiable intangibles - sign on fees      (25)
Decrease in deferred tax liability     (25)

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Note  ��  Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued) 

(f) Retained earnings  

The effect on retained earnings of the changes set out above are as follows:  
 
  �0 June
 Notes �00�
  $’000

Share Based Payments 4(a) (19)
Business Combinations 4(b)  53 
Share issue costs 4(e) (221)
Employee benefits 4(e) (29)
Identifiable intangibles - sign on fees 4(e)  25 
Total adjustment  (191)

 (g) Contributed equity  

The effect on contributed equity of the changes set out above are as follows: 
Share issue costs 4(e) (1,101)
Total adjustment  (1,101)

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Directors’ Declaration

In the directors’ opinion: 

(a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001; including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 
and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of its performance, 
as represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date; 
and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that Verticon Group Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and 

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 7 to 10 of the Directors’ Report comply with Accounting Standards AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The directors have been given the declarations by the managing director and the chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Chairman       Managing Director 

Signed at Melbourne, 

Dated this 24th day of August 2006.



PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757 

Freshwater Place 
2 Southbank Boulevard
SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006 
GPO Box 1331L
MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
DX 77 
Website:www.pwc.com/au
Telephone 61 3 8603 1000 
Facsimile  61 3 8603 1999 Independent audit report to the members of 

Verticon Group Limited

Audit opinion 
In our opinion:

1. The financial report of Verticon Group Limited:

• gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the 
financial position of Verticon Group Limited and the Verticon Group (defined below) as 
at 30 June 2006, and of their performance for the year ended on that date, and 

• is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

2. the remunerations disclosures that are contained on pages 11 to 14 of the directors’ report 
comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures  (AASB 124) and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosure and directors’ responsibility 
The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, statement
of changes in equity, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration 
for both Verticon Group Limited and the Verticon Group (the consolidated entity), for the year
ended 30 June 2006. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it 
controlled during that year.

The company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives 
(remuneration disclosures) as required by AASB 124, under the heading “remuneration report” on 
pages 7 to 10 of the directors’ report, as permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for 
the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent
and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the 
financial report. The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the 
directors’ report. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Report (continued)

 Audit approach 

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement and the 
remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  The
nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective 
testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than 
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have 
been detected. For further explanation of an audit, visit our website 
http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents 
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory
financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of 
the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as
represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and cash flows. We also performed
procedures to assess whether the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the
Corporations Regulations 2001.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 

3. examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report and remuneration disclosures, and

4. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it 
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report. 

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting 
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls. 

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chris Dodd Melbourne
Partner 24 August 2006
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Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 24 August 2006.  

A. Distribution of equity securities  

Ordinary share capital  

62,599,679 fully paid shares are held by 897 individual shareholders.

Options  

There are no options on issue over ordinary shares of the Company.  

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding: 
 
  Class of equity security 
  Ordinary shares   Options 

1 - 1,000   62   -  
1,001 - 5,000  213   -  
5,001 - 10,000   238   -  
10,001 - 100,000  345   -  
100,001 - and over  39   - 
 �9�  - 

There were 63 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.  
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B. Equity security holders  
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders  

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:  

  Ordinary shares  
  Number   Percentage 
Name   held   of issued shares 

Taraville Pty Ltd   14,583,333   23.30 
ANZ Nominees Limited  <Cash Income A/C>  3,714,346   5.93 
Invia Custodian Pty Ltd <Black A/C>  2,500,000   3.99 
National Nominees Limited <Equipsuper A/C>  2,461,800   3.93 
Daniel & Annette Smith  2,437,189 3.89
Zarvale Pty Ltd 2,200,000 3.51
Deenford Pty Ltd   2,083,333   3.33 
Emadale Pty Ltd   2,083,333   3.33 
UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 1,969,856  3.15
Giovanni Nominees Pty Ltd   1,691,880 2.70
Taraville Pty Ltd <Taraville Unit A/C> 1,600,000  2.56
Abela Group Pty Ltd <The Abela Group A/C> 1,393,966  2.23
Marco and Marie-Therese Pagliari   1,350,000   2.16 
Kellason Pty Ltd   1,260,000   2.01
Skydene Pty Ltd   1,260,000   2.01
Deasil Trading Pty Ltd   972,550 1.55
Noel and Lyndsay Henderson <Avington Super Fund A/C> 558,424  0.89
Stephen Gunn   450,833   0.72 
Elessar Holdings Pty Ltd   416,667   0.67 
Chromagen Solar Australia Pty Ltd   300,000   0.48 
  ��,���,�10   ��.�� 

C. Substantial Shareholders  
Substantial shareholders in the Company as advised to the Company are set out below:  

 Number Percentage 
Name   held   of issued shares 

Taraville Pty Ltd 16,238,333 25.86%
ANZ Nominees Limited 3,714,346 5.93%
Zarvale Pty Ltd 3,550,000 5.67% 

D. Voting rights  
All shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

Shareholder Information (continued)
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